
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Mackey

AGENDA July 06, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Mackey

Presentation Commissioner Marty Haynes - Presentation to Morgan McLean - Agenda Session Only - June
29, 2016

Presentation Sheriff's Department Annual Report for 2015 - Agenda Session Only June 29, 2016

Minutes Recessed Meeting - June 8, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - June 8, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - June 15, 2016

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report May 2016

Report Trustee Monthly Report May 2016

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report March and April 2016

Res. No. 716-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oath of Deputy County Clerk, and the oaths of Deputy
Sheriffs.

Res. No. 716-2 A Resolution to reappoint one member to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing Board
beginning July 6, 2016 and ending July 6, 2018.

Res. No. 716-3 A Resolution authorizing the appointment and/or reappointment of representatives to the
Hamilton County Community Corrections Advisory Board.

Res. No. 716-4 A Resolution making an appropriation to East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra in the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Nine.

Res. No. 716-5 A Resolution making an appropriation to The Chattanooga Girls Leadership Academy, Inc., in
the amount of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Four.

Res. No. 716-6 A Resolution making an appropriation to East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra in the amount of
one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Seven.

Res. No. 716-7 A Resolution making an appropriation to the National Coalition of 100 Black Women
Chattanooga Chapter, Inc., in the amount of two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) from
General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Five.

Res. No. 716-8 A Resolution making an appropriation to Lakeside Youth Association in the amount of two
thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted
to District Five.

Res. No. 716-9 A Resolution making an appropriation to The Links Foundation, Inc., in the amount of three
thousand dollars ($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Five.

Res. No. 716-10 A Resolution to approve an agreement between the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office and the
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority d/b/a Erlanger Health System to provide
medical services to inmates of the Hamilton County Jail.

Res. No. 716-11 A Resolution accepting the proposals of Professional Recovery Consultants, Inc. and Gila LLC
dba Municipal Services Bureau (MSB) to provide debt collection services of past due receivables
for the offices of the Hamilton County Criminal Court Clerk as well as other Hamilton County
offices and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.



Res. No. 716-12 A Resolution accepting the bids of Best Buy Education, Visions of Video, and OM Office Supply
Inc. for televisions, wall mounts, mobile TV carts, and promethean boards for Middle Valley,
Nolan, and Wolftever Elementary  Schools amounting to $150,606.95 for the Department of
Education and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.

Res. No. 716-13 A Resolution authorizing the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners on behalf of Hamilton
County to designate Hamilton County Parks and Recreation as the Holder of a Stream
Conservation Easement upon property owned by the Industrial Development Board (IDB) of the
City of Chattanooga within the Enterprise South Industrial Park.

Res. No. 716-14 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of May 1, 2016,
through May 31, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 716-15 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of
$123,000.00 to provide federally facilitated marketplace application assistance to pregnant
women for the time period July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017.

Res. No. 716-16 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County Tennessee, the Health
Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to accept
an  agreement beginning July 1, 2016 and ending on June 30, 2017, between Hamilton County
and the City of Chattanooga in the amount of $30,000.00 to provide financial assistance to
families and individuals to prevent those families and individuals from becoming homeless.

Res. No. 716-17 A Resolution accepting the bid of Sequatchie Concrete Service, Inc. for one (1) year contract
pricing, beginning July 7, 2016, through July 6, 2017, with the option to renew for one (1)
additional year, for concrete blocks, masonry sand and mortar for the Maintenance Department
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 716-18 A Resolution accepting the bid of Cargill Incorporated Deicing Technology Business for one (1)
year contract pricing, beginning August 5, 2016 through August 4, 2017, for highway bulk
de-icing salt for the Highway Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 8, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 8th day of June, 2016, a Recessed Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Commissioner Mackey was absent. Total present – 8.  Total absent -1.  

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, Assistant County Attorney Neill Southerland, and County Auditor 

Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks introduced Assistant Pastor Ed Alexander, Stanley 

Heights Baptist Church, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Fairbanks led in the 

pledge to the flag. 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 

2 
 

Chairman Bankston announced that there was not any scheduled business for 

the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 

      

       Respectfully submitted: 

 

      
       _______________________________ 
       William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 8, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 8th day of June, 2016, an Agenda Preparation 

Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Commissioner Mackey was absent. Total present - 8.  Total absent – 1. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, Assistant County Attorney Neill Southerland, and County Auditor 

Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

 An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

 Resolution No. 616-13 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolution No. 616-30 through 616-32 were assigned to the Zoning Committee, 
chaired by Commissioner Haynes. 

 Resolution Nos. 616-34 through 616-43 were assigned to the Finance 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd. 

 Resolution Nos. 616-14 through 616-29, and 616-33 were heard by a Committee 
of the Whole. 

 
 
 Chairman Bankston reported that he would be moving Resolution No. 616-33 to 

the front of the agenda and it would now be heard by a Committee of the Whole.   

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-33 

 

 Chairman Bankston reminded members of the Commission and audience that 

the applicant would have seven minutes to make his presentation. He added that any 

opposition wishing to respond would have a total of nine minutes.  

 

 The applicant, Barry Kidwell, Executive Director of Mustard Tree 

Ministries/United Methodist Committee on Church Extension and Congregational 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 3

Revitalization, Inc. residing at 605 Timber Ridge Drive Hixson, TN 37343 addressed the 

Commission regarding Resolution No. 616-33, which approves a special exceptions 

permit for a residential planned unit development of property located at 9125 Snow Hill 

Road. Mr. Kidwell noted that although the staff of the Regional Planning Commission 

approved the request, the Planning Commission ultimately recommended against it due 

to the large number of citizens in opposition.  

 

 Mr. Kidwell acknowledged the controversy surrounding the project and asked 

that the permit request be formally withdrawn. He noted that the ministry had not 

communicated the goal of the program sufficiently to nearby residents.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Mr. Kidwell explained that he is a 

minister for inner city and homeless residents in the Chattanooga area. He reported that 

he has seen a similar program in Wichita, Kansas that brought former gang members 

and others who were down and out to a farm program for two years, which positively 

impacted their lives. He explained that the ministry’s intention was to build a total of 32 

“tiny homes” that would cost $250 to $300 in rent per month and would house anyone 

from college students to former gang members and homeless residents looking for 

affordable housing. He added that the property is located in a primarily middle class 

neighborhood. Mr. Kidwell explained that the ministry is planning to regroup and 

determine whether to seek another permit at this site or to find another location.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 4

 In response to Commissioner Hayne’s question, Mr. Kidwell noted that the 

ministry held one community meeting regarding the project.  

 

 Dean Moorhouse, residing at 8114 Mahan Gap Road Ooltewah, TN 37363, 

spoke in opposition to Resolution No. 616-33. He explained that he had a petition with 

1700 signatures from community citizens opposing the project. He called the project 

“spot zoning” and an inappropriate use of land, and expressed his concern that the 

proposed site is within ¼ of a mile from Snow Hill Elementary School and Hamilton 

County High School. Mr. Moorhouse also noted that transportation and support services 

would not be easily accessible to program participants if the project was approved.  He 

asked that the Commission deny the request. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question concerning the safety of 

potential residents without access to an automobile, Mr. Moorhouse explained that 

Snow Hill Road is a heavily trafficked road with no sidewalks or shoulders. He added 

that the closest convenience store is one mile from the site and the closest grocery 

store is three miles away.  

 

 Tammy Cotter, residing at 9124 Snow Hill Road Ooltewah, TN 37363, spoke in 

opposition to Resolution No. 616-33. It was noted that Ms. Cotter’s property is located 

directly across the street from the proposed site. She explained that the project was not 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 5

sustainable due to the lack of transportation and no easily accessible social services. 

She noted that selling the property and using the funds to purchase land in a more 

suitable location would be a better idea towards creating a more sustainable model.   

 

 Chairman Bankston reported that Mr. Kidwell had two minutes to respond to the 

opposition.  

 

 Mr. Kidwell stated that these types of programs were successful in other areas, 

but the ministry had not done its due diligence in satisfying concerns from residents in 

the community. He asked that the ministry be allowed to withdraw the application at this 

time. Chairman Bankston reported that the Commission would vote on the item next 

week.  

 

BUDGET PRESENTATION 

  

Mayor Coppinger presented the County Budget for 2016-2017. He asked 

members of the Finance Department to distribute copies of the budget book to the 

Commission. A copy of the book was filed with the Clerk’s office.  

 

He began by thanking members of the staff and administrators for their hard work 

and assistance in putting together a budget for fiscal year 2016-2017. He expressed his 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 6

appreciation to the Commission for their input during this process, and thanked 

everyone who attended the four budget workshops at the McDaniel Building. It was 

noted that the proposed budget was available for viewing on the Hamilton County 

website.  

 

He presented the budget in detail stating that it was a balanced $679.6 million 

budget, and his sixth consecutive budget with no property tax increase. The proposed 

budget is $14.2 million larger than the 2015-2016 fiscal year budget, which represents a 

2.1 percent increase. He noted that the majority of County spending is going to the 

Department of Education. School spending is set to rise from $405.68 million to $417.7 

million. The county school budget has been amended to around $411 million during the 

current fiscal year. 

 

The county general fund is rising $3.9 from $213.48 million to $218.8 million. 

Contributing factors are property taxes and intergovernmental revenues, which are 

revenues that come in from local offices as well as state and federal governments. He 

noted that his staff would be unable to balance the budget without the help of the 

Constitutional Offices. He commended County Clerk Bill Knowles, Circuit Court Clerk 

Larry Henry, and Sheriff Jim Hammond who were in attendance for his presentation.  

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 7

Across the board employee raises of 2.5 percent are included in the budget. 

Employees earning $50,000 or less will receive a minimum raise of $1,250. Cost of 

raises, including associated employee benefits is $2.65 million.   

 

Additional topics discussed were increases in revenues, increases in 

expenditures, increases in health insurance costs, decreases in debt services 

appropriations, the general fund capital outlay items budgeted for and the unexpected 

major capital items that are not included in the annual capital outlay budget. Total 

capital outlay for the Sheriff’s Department is $1.3 million.  

 

The Sheriff’s Department budget is up $31.59 million to $33.47 million. The 

increase is mainly due to employee pay raises totaling $606,000 and health insurance 

costs totaling $838,000. The budget does include funds for the Bridge Retirement Plan 

(BRP) and the Sheriff’s Office grant for four School Resource Officers. It was noted that 

funding for the grant came from the state for the first three years.   

 

Mayor Coppinger said there will only be one new full-time employee, a veterans 

services officer who will be paid approximately $55,000. It was noted that Hamilton 

County had been one of only two counties in the state without such an officer. He said  

local veterans may be missing out on approximately $12 million in benefits. The position 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 8

will fall under Human Resources and interested applicants must be a veteran and 

honorably discharged. 

  

Mayor Coppinger concluded his statements stating that the budget is a 

conservative, fiscally responsible budget. He added that voting by the Commission is 

scheduled for June 29th.   

  

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 616-14 through 616-29 would 

now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-14 

 

This Resolution appropriates $7,630.00 from general fund discretionary monies, 

as allotted to District Four, to Alton Park Development Corporation to assist with 

community development.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 9

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-15 

 

Chairman Bankston spoke regarding his Resolution, which appropriates 

$17,370.00 from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Nine, to Alton 

Park Development Corporation to assist with community development. It was noted that 

$17,370.00 in discretionary bond monies as allotted to district four was swapped for a 

like amount in general fund discretionary funds as allotted to district nine. Chairman 

Bankston noted that Commissioner Mackey would be present for next week’s meeting 

to explain.  

  

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-16 

  

 Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this item, which approves the expenditure 

of up to $2,500.00 from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to district five, to Dalewood 

Middle School for the purchase of a security system.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 10

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-17 

  

Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this item, which approves the expenditure 

of up to $7,436.00 from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to district five, to assist 

with the purchase of library books for Hillcrest Elementary School.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-18 

 

 Administrator of Finance Al Kiser spoke regarding this item, which amends the 

federal school projects fund budget by adding $70,842.00 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue 

and expenditure budget, amends the self-funded projects fund budget by adding 

$490,451.00 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue and expenditure budget, and amends the 

general purpose fund budget by adding $1,956,793.00 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue 

and expenditure budget. It was noted that the Board of Education must seek approval 

from the County legislative body for any budget amendments.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Kiser stated that he would 

report the total of the Department of Education’s budget back to Commissioners. He 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 11

added that the budget has been amended because of stadium repairs, and this item is 

designed to true up their budget.   

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Kiser noted that the $70,842 

was federal and state funding that the school system was not aware they would receive.  

 

 It was noted that Christie Jordan, Accounting and Budgeting Director for the 

Hamilton County Department of Education, would be present next week to answer any 

questions.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-19 

  

 Director of Purchasing Gail Roppo spoke regarding this item, which accepts the 

bid of Windrock Enterprises, Inc. for the purchase of small kitchen items and equipment 

for the Middle Valley Elementary School for the Board of Education.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Ms. Roppo confirmed that 

these are funds that have already been approved.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Ms. Roppo stated that she would 

report back to the Commission with the total cost of the purchase.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 12

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-20 

 

 Alecia Poe, Human Resources Director, spoke regarding this item, which accepts 

the proposal of Sun Life Financial for reinsurance for the County’s group medical plan. 

She explained that Sun Life offers a refund based on a percentage of the premium if not 

exceeded. She noted that the County has received on average $33,000 per year in 

refunds. Sun Life also pays the $44,400 premium for DataSmart; software used by Russ 

Blakely & Associates to analyze patient data to improve the county’s health insurance 

claims. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-21 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to sign an agreement in the amount of $50,000 with the Urban 

League of Greater Chattanooga to provide certain contract compliance services. He 

noted that this item is contingent on the passing of the FY17 budget. He added that 

Warren Logan, President and CEO for the Chattanooga Area Urban League, was 

present to answer any questions.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 13

 Commissioner Graham reported that Mr. Logan would be speaking at an 

upcoming Diversity and Equity Committee meeting. He noted that he would announce 

the date at a later time.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Chairman Bankston reported that 

the vote for this item will take place next week, but the funding is subject to the adoption 

of the budget.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger publicly thanked Mr. Logan for his hard work and dedication to 

Hamilton County government. He noted that Mr. Logan is providing a service to 

Hamilton County that saves the taxpayers quite a bit of money.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-22 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to sign a grant agreement with the Tennessee Department of Mental 

Health and Substance Abuse, and amends the Recovery Court Fund by adding 

$425,000 to the revenue and expenditure budget. He noted that this is the main state 

funding contract for the Recovery Court Program, and there is no County match.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 14

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-23 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to execute a contract with Ms. Elaine Kelly to serve as coordinator of 

the Hamilton County Recovery Court Program with a term of July 1, 2016 to June 30, 

2017. 

 

 Commissioner Graham clarified that Resolution No. 616-22 funds Hamilton 

County’s Recovery Court Program’s Coordinator contract (616-23) and two Case 

Manager contracts (616-24 & 616-25). 

.  

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Mayor Coppinger reported that 

Ms. Kelly is supervised by Criminal Court Judge Tom Greenholtz. It was noted that the 

contract was for $92,442.00.   

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-24 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to execute a contract with Mr. John Cooper to serve as case 

manager of the Hamilton County Recovery Court Program with a term of July 1, 2016 to 

June 30, 2017. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 15

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-25 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to execute a contract with Mr. Jeff Hill to serve as case manager of 

the Hamilton County Recovery Court Program with a term of July 1, 2016 to June 30, 

2017. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-26 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to accept a $1.25 million Fast Track Economic Development Fund 

Grant from the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development on 

behalf of Yanfeng USA Automotive Trim Systems, Inc. to provide various building 

improvements and equipment at the company’s new Hamilton County location. No 

county match is required. 

 

 There were no questions for Commissioners.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 16

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-27 

 

 Development Director Dan Saieed spoke regarding this item, which authorizes 

the County Mayor to accept a $5.5 million Fast Track Economic Development Fund 

Grant from the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development on 

behalf of Gestamp Chattanooga, LLC to assist with equipment and building 

improvements to support the expansion of the company’s Hamilton County operations. 

No county match is required. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Mr. Saieed reported that the 

funding is for building and equipment purchases, with claw back provisions.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-28 

 

 This Resolution adopts a budget for the fiscal year 2016-2017 and sets the tax 

levy for the year 2016 for Hamilton County, Tennessee.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 17

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 616-29 

 

 This Resolution makes appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic 

organizations of Hamilton County, Tennessee, for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2016 

and ending June 30, 2017.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

 Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 616-28 and 616-29 will be 

voted on at the June 29, 2016 Recessed meeting.  

 

 Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee, announced that the 

Zoning Committee would be meeting in the adjacent Conference Room immediately 

following today’s Agenda Session.  

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

today’s Agenda Session. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 18

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Each member of the Commission thanked Mayor Coppinger and his staff for 

today’s budget presentation and the four workshops that took place at the McDaniel 

Building. They complimented the staff for their knowledge and willingness to answer any 

questions.  

 

Commissioner Haynes recognized District 3 School Board member Dr. Greg 

Martin in the audience. He reported that Dr. Martin recently began a career in real 

estate and was recently awarded Agent of the Month by Berkshire Hathaway. 

Commissioner Haynes also complemented members of the Greater Chattanooga 

Association of Realtors (GCAR) for hosting a meeting last week with the respective 

school board candidates.  

 

Commissioner Haynes thanked Mayor Coppinger and Commissioners for 

approving expenditures for Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department. He reported they are 

extremely grateful for the improvements.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 19

Commissioner Graham expressed his gratitude for local Volunteer Fire 

Departments and the invaluable service they provide to the citizens of Hamilton County. 

He also recognized his wife and two of his children in the audience at today’s meeting. 

He wished his youngest son, Luke, a happy 11th birthday.  

 

Commissioner Fields echoed Commissioner Graham’s comments about the 

invaluable service provided by local Volunteer Fire Departments. He also recognized his 

wife who was present in the audience at today’s meeting.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced that a community meeting will take place 

Monday, June 13th at 6:00 pm at Shelter Church in East Brainerd. The meeting will be 

co-hosted by Councilman Larry Grohn and will cover topics such as the city and county 

budgets and road projects. She reported that County Trustee Bill Hullander will be 

present to discuss the Senior Tax Relief program available in Hamilton County.   

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Commissioners for their participation in the budget 

workshops this year.  

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke about a Times Free Press article regarding the Hamilton 

County Water and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA). He reported that there are 

issues concerning the WWTA, and that a tremendous amount of work is occurring 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 20

behind the scenes to solve them. He added that growth and economic development has 

not been slowed as the article suggested. He reinforced that the WWTA is an authority 

established by the State of Tennessee and the County is very limited in oversight of its 

operations.  

 

Commissioner Boyd responded to Mayor Coppinger’s comments. He reported 

that economic development has been an issue that may or not be related to issues with 

the WWTA, which is set to sunset 2021. He announced that he will release a report later 

this summer detailing his findings from his study of the WWTA. He reported that 

economic development cannot occur without adequate water, power, and water 

treatment.  

 

Mayor Coppinger reported that East Ridge has not been left out of any economic 

development, and he referenced $1 million the Commission allotted to development in 

that area. He noted that some information regarding a plan of action is confidential. He 

welcomed Commissioner Boyd to discuss the issues further with him and his staff.  

 

Chairman Bankston wished Commissioner Graham’s son, Luke, a happy 11th 

birthday.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JUNE 8, 2016 
 
 

 21

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, June 15th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  June 15, 2016 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 15th day of June, 2016, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks introduced Senior Minister Gary Armes, Hickory Valley 

Christian Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Fairbanks led in the pledge 

to the flag.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution No. 616-33 be considered at this time.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-33 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 

PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY AT 

9125 SNOW HILL ROAD.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

deny Resolution No. 616-33.  

 

 Chairman Bankston asked if any members of the audience wished to speak 

regarding Resolution No. 616-33.  

 

 Michelle Hubbs residing at 2316 E. 4th Street Chattanooga, TN 37404 spoke in 

support of Resolution No. 616-33. Ms. Hubbs reported that she became familiar with the 

applicant, Barry Kidwell, 14 years ago when she moved to Chattanooga and wanted to 

become involved in social services for homeless residents. It was noted that she offered 

public relations services regarding this project to Mr. Kidwell. She referred to a handout 

she distributed to Commissioners, which contained information on similar tiny home 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

3 

 

farming programs in other cities. She noted that Charlotte, North Carolina and Austin, 

Texas have similar programs that have been spearheaded by city and county 

government officials collaborating with faith based ministries. She explained that the 

programs have generated significant savings for taxpayers. A copy of the handout was 

filed with the Clerk’s office. She reiterated that the request to withdraw Resolution No. 

616-33 was to give the community a chance to ask questions and become more 

informed. 

 

 Ms. Hubbs explained that a large portion of the homeless population would 

benefit from the opportunity to be self-sufficient in a rural area, by working and farming 

on the property. She noted that she was working with various venues to organize public 

meetings and information sessions to provide the public an opportunity to understand 

the goals of the program, as well as the safety measures in place. She added that while 

the applicant wishes to withdraw the petition at this time, they do plan to reapply later 

once the community has had a chance to have their concerns addressed.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Ms. Hubbs reported that she lives 

in East Chattanooga near Orchard Knob. She explained that there is not space in that 

area for a program of this type. Ms. Hubbs clarified that the site was chosen in a rural 

area intentionally to keep program participants away from tempations they had 

experienced. She noted that participants would have access to a downtown 

Chattanooga bus route.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

4 

 

 

 Commissioner Beck asked audience members, both favoring and opposing, to 

stand. Several citizens stood representing each side of the issue. A majority of those 

responding expressed opposition. 

 

 Commissioner Graham clarified his Motion to deny this item. He stated he had 

concerns that the proposed site is not on a bus line, and doesn’t provide easy access to 

grocery stores or medical clinics. He added that Snow Hill Road is a curvy road with no 

shoulders or sidewalks and would pose a risk to anyome finding it necessary to walk 

from the porosed site.  

 

  Commissioner Mackey responded to Commissioner Graham’s comments. He 

stated that while District 4 is on the bus route, it does not have adequate medical care, 

and is considered a food desert. He added that he was not stating favor or opposition to 

the project.  

 

 Commissioner Beck called for the vote on the main motion made by 

Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to deny Resolution No. 

616-33.  

 

The foregoing Motion to deny was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

5 

 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-30 A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE-FAMILY DISTRICT, PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 8908 FULLER ROAD.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Graham to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-30.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any opposition present. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  

Total “Nay” votes – 0.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

6 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-31 A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL TO R-3 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTIES 

LOCATED AT 5400, 5406 AND 5412 CHAMPION ROAD.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Graham to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-31.  

 

 Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee reported that a 

handout was being distributed to Commissioners with additional information regarding 

this project. A copy of the handout was filed with the Clerk’s office. He noted that 

several conditions needed to be addressed and asked that the applicant be given the 

opportunity to speak about the project.  

 

 Chairman Bankston reminded the applicant that he had seven minutes to present 

his case.  

 

 Mike Price with MAP engineers spoke on behalf of the developer, Champion 

View Investments, LLC, who plans to build a $25 million development with 396 

apartments at Champion Road and Highway 58. He thanked Legislative Administrator 

Patricia Moore for providing him with emails from concerned community members, and 

noted that he tried to respond to as many as he could. He said that the residents in 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

7 

 

opposition he spoke with had two major concerns: the entrance to Champion Road from 

Highway 58, and the condition of Champion Road. He explained that a traffic study was 

completed and the developer has agreed to pay for a new traffic light at the intersection 

of Champion Road and Highway 58. He said there will also be a left turn lane provided 

for those going north on Highway 58 who want to turn onto Champion Road. Mr. Price 

said the developer will also pave Champion Road from Highway 58 to the first entrance 

of the development. 

 

 Mr. Price noted that other concerns involving overcrowding of schools, 

environmental preservation along Champion Road, and compliance with required 

buffers were being addressed to the best of their ability. It was noted that it will be a 

gated community with a pool, clubhouse, playground and other amenities. He reported 

that the current property tax on the property is $2,600; after development is complete 

property taxes are estimated to be $273,000. He emphasized that no work will begin on 

the development until the traffic improvements are in place.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fields question, Commissioner Haynes reported 

that the Resolution will incorporate the conditions to insure they are completed before 

development begins.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Commissioner Haynes reported 

that the handout distributed to the Commission was a Tennessee Department of 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

8 

 

Transportation (TDOT) safety audit study of the intersection, which included 34 

conditions to be completed before a building permit for the development can be issued. 

He noted that the area is in a unique situation because while the development is in the 

County, Champion Road is a City of Chattanooga owned road, and Highway 58 is a 

state road.  

 

 Todd Leamon, Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer, clarified that 

the results from the developer’s traffic study were combined with the TDOT safety audit 

report to create one traffic study with recommended improvements.  

 

 Commissioner Haynes added that the developer is willing to pay in full for the 

traffic light and road improvements to prevent waiting for approval from the City of 

Chattanooga and TDOT.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Leamon confirmed that the 

improvements to Champion Road and Highway 58 must be completed before a building 

permit for the complex is issued by the County.  

 

 Commissioner Mackey asked that Commissioners be able to hear from the 

opposition before voting.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

9 

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Leamon explained the Fire 

Marshal will have the opportunity to review the plans to insure they are up to code prior 

to a building permit being issued. He clarified that before building begins the traffic light 

will be installed, the Champion Road improvements will be made, and the Fire Marshal 

will review the plans.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Price reported that the 

traffic light would cost about $300,000 and the Champion Road paving about $200,000. 

Commissioner Graham added that if the developer were not willing to pay for the road 

improvements and the traffic light, approval and funding from TDOT could take many 

years.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

amend Resolution No. 616-31 to incorporate the recommended conditions listed on the 

TDOT safety audit handout distributed to the Commission.  

 

 Mr. Leamon clarified that the current city and state traffic reviews do not warrant 

a traffic light at the intersection and TDOT has the ultimate approval of whether or not 

one is deemed necessary. He stated that the developer is willing to fully fund the 

installation of a traffic light if warranted by TDOT in a new traffic study.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

10 

 

 Mr. Price stated that the intersection does warrant a traffic light and the 

developer is willing to add it to the list of conditions that must be completed prior to 

obtaining a building permit.  

 

 Attorney Taylor clarified that the developer is willing to delay construction until 

the traffic light has been installed, whether it is deemed necessary by the city and state 

or not.  

 

 Mr. Price agreed to the commission’s amendment and reiterated how dangerous 

the intersection would be without a traffic light. He further stated that the development 

would not occur unless a traffic light is installed. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor stated the 

amendment should specifically address the developer’s agreement that construction of 

the development will not begin until the traffic signal has been installed at the 

intersection.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

add a second amendment requiring the installation of the traffic light prior to 

development as a condition.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

11 

 

 Commissioner Haynes thanked Mr. Price for the funding and installation 

agreement. He reported that it took two years for TDOT to approve the traffic signal at 

the intersection of Hixson Pike and Thrasher Pike.  

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that the Commission hear from the opposition at this 

time. He reminded members of the Commission and audience that the opposition had a 

total of nine minutes.  

 

 Jerry Rutherford residing at 6459 Solitude Drive Chattanooga, TN 37416, Pete 

Cooper residing at 6460 Solitude Drive Chattanooga, TN 37416, Paula Palmer residing 

at 2420 Bending Oaks Drive Chattanooga, TN 37421, Joanna Shepich residing at 4823 

Montcrest Drive Chattanooga, TN 37416, and Lisa Morgan residing at 4880 Preserve 

Drive Chattanooga, TN 37416 all spoke in opposition of Resolution No. 616-31. They 

each noted the heavy traffic flow around Highway 58 and Champion Road and listed 

specific concerns about the problems additional traffic might cause including dangerous 

road conditions, overcrowding in schools, and accessibility for ambulances during 

emergencies.  

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks spoke about development in Hamilton County and the 

main concern of citizens is traffic. He thanked Mr. Price for reaching out to the residents 

before coming before the Commission.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

12 

 

 Commissioner Haynes thanked those who spoke in opposition. He reported that 

this is an unusual situation regarding ownership of the roads. He added that the 

property is already zoned to allow for development without Commission approval, but 

without approval, none of the conditions discussed would apply. Mr. Leamon confirmed 

that the property is currently zoned to allow for development.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Mr. Rutherford stated that the 

residents did not become aware of the plans until an article regarding development in 

Hamilton County was printed in a local newspaper.  

 

 Commissioner Graham thanked members in the audience that were present in 

support and in opposition of Resolution No. 616-31. He encouraged them to contact the 

City Council and Chattanooga Mayor Andy Berke about making improvements to City 

owned roads.  

 

 Commissioner Mackey stated that Mr. Rutherford represents several citizens in 

that area of Highway 58, and he appeared to be satisfied with the conditions that Mr. 

Price presented.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Mr. Price reported that no 

community meetings took place to discuss the development, but he did reach out to 

nearby residents.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

13 

 

 

 Commissioner Beck called for the vote on the motion made by Commissioner 

Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to add a second amendment adding a 

condition requiring installation of the traffic light prior to development.  

 

The foregoing Motion to amend the resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

 Chairman Bankston asked for the Roll Call on the motion made by Commissioner 

Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to amend Resolution No. 616-31 to include 

the conditions recommended in the TDOT traffic study.   

 

The foregoing Motion to amend the resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

14 

 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked for the Roll Call on the original motion by 

Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Graham to adopt Resolution No. 

616-31 that now includes the two previously adopted amendments.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted as amended on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

Clerk Knowles asked that the Clerk’s office be provided with Resolution No. 616-31 

as adopted with amendments.  

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes question, Clerk Knowles reported that the 

minutes for today’s meeting will be in the July 6, 2016 Commission Packet. They will be 

available in CERP packets for review by the agenda session of June 29th.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

15 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-32 A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT & R-2 URBAN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-1 

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2333 

OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD.  

  

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Zoning Committee reported that for the 

purposes of holding a public meeting, the applicant wished to postpone this item. It was 

noted that it would be placed on the July 13, 2016 agenda, and voted on at the July 20, 

2016 Regular Meeting.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

postpone Resolution No. 616-32 until July 13, 2016. The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

16 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

that the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of May 25, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of May 25, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of June 1, 2016, be approved, treat 

same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion was adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Haynes was not present for the Roll Call.  Total present 

– 9. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

  An order was submitted for the record designating Todd Leamon to sit as the 

County Mayor’s representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of June 13, 

2016.   

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

17 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-13 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATH OF DEPUTY REGISTER. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-13. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Commissioner Haynes and Commissioner Smedley were not present for the Roll 

Call.  Total present – 7. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0.  

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 616-14 through 616-29 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-14 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ALTON PARK DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION IN THE AMOUNT OF SEVEN 

THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED THIRTY DOLLARS ($7,630.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

18 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution No. 616-14. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-15 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ALTON PARK DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION IN THE AMOUNT OF SEVENTEEN 

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED SEVENTY DOLLARS ($17,370.00) FROM 

GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY  MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE.  

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-15.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Commissioner Mackey 

reported that the funds will be used to provide assistance with community development 

in the Alton Park area.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

19 

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Smedley was not 

present for the vote. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total 

“Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Graham announced he was present.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-16  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

UP TO TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM 

DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE, TO 

PURCHASE A SECURITY SYSTEM FOR DALEWOOD MIDDLE SCHOOL. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-16. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

20 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-17 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

UP TO SEVEN THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED THIRTY SIX DOLLARS ($7,436.00) 

FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE) TO 

ASSIST WITH THE PURCHASE OF LIBRARY BOOKS FOR HILLCREST 

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-17. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-18 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE SCHOOLS FEDERAL 

PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY ADDING $70,842 TO THE FY 2015-2016 REVENUE 

AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE SELF-FUNDED PROJECTS FUND 

BUDGET BY ADDING $490,451 TO THE FY 2015-2016 REVENUE AND 

EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE GENERAL PURPOSE FUND BUDGET 

BY ADDING $1,956,793 TO THE FY 2015-2016 REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE 

BUDGET. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

21 

 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-18. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-19  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF WINDROCK 

ENTERPRISES, INC. FOR SMALL KITCHEN ITEMS AND EQUIPMENT FOR THE 

MIDDLE VALLEY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL FOR THE BOARD OF EDUCATION AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-19. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

22 

 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-20  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF SUN 

LIFE FINANCIAL FOR REINSURANCE FOR THE COUNTY'S GROUP MEDICAL 

PLAN AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-20. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-21  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN AN AGREEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $50,000 WITH THE URBAN 

LEAGUE OF GREATER CHATTANOOGA TO PROVIDE CERTAIN CONTRACT 

COMPLIANCE SERVICES FOR A CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 2016 

AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2017. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

23 

 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-21. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Nay”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-22 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A GRANT AGREEMENT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2016 ENDING JUNE 

30, 2017 WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH AND 

SUBSTANCE ABUSE AND AMENDING THE RECOVERY COURT FUND BY 

ADDING $425,000 TO THE REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE BUDGETS. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-22. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

24 

 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-23 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2016 TO JUNE 30, 2017 

WITH MS. ELAINE KELLY TO SERVE AS COORDINATOR OF THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-23. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 616-24 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2016 TO JUNE 30, 2017 

WITH MR. JOHN COOPER AS A CASE MANAGER OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

25 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-24. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-25  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH A TERM OF JULY 1, 2016 TO JUNE 30, 2017 

WITH MR. JEFF HILL AS A CASE MANAGER OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

RECOVERY COURT PROGRAM. 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-25. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

26 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-26 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ACCEPT A $1.25 MILLION FAST TRACK ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND 

GRANT FROM THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AND TO SIGN ANY AND ALL GRANT-RELATED DOCUMENTS ON 

BEHALF OF YANFENG USA AUTOMOTIVE TRIM SYSTEMS, INC. TO PROVIDE 

VARIOUS BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS AND EQUIPMENT AT THE COMPANY'S 

NEW HAMILTON COUNTY LOCATION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-26. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-27 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ACCEPT A $5.5 MILLION FAST TRACK ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND 

GRANT FROM THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AND TO SIGN ANY AND ALL GRANT-RELATED DOCUMENTS ON 

BEHALF OF GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA LLC TO ASSIST WITH EQUIPMENT AND 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

27 

 

BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS TO SUPPORT THE EXPANSION OF THE COMPANY'S 

HAMILTON COUNTY OPERATIONS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 616-27. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that without objection, Resolution Nos. 616-28 and 

616-29 would be postponed to the June 29, 2016 Recessed Meeting.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 616-34 through 616-43 be 

considered together at this time.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-34  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

28 

 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $677, 130.00 TO PROVIDE A 

SCHOOL BASED DENTAL SEALANT PROGRAM IN HAMILTON COUNTY FOR THE 

TIME PERIOD JULY 1, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2018. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-35  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF BAKER 

WASTE EQUIPMENT FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR STATIONARY 

COMPACTORS, BEGINNING JUNE 15, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 14, 2017, FOR THE 

RECYCLING I SUPPORT SERVICES DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-36  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF TALLEY 

CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, WITH 

THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR THREE (3) ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS, 

BEGINNING JUNE 15, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 14, 2017, FOR ASPHALT MILLING 

SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-37  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE QUALIFICATIONS 

AND FEE SCHEDULES OF SANTEE CONSULTING SERVICES, INC., ARCADIS 

U.S., INC., S&ME, INC., THOMPSON ENGINEERING, INC., TERRACON 

CONSULTANTS, INC., GEOSERVICES, LLC, MARION ENVIRONMENTAL, INC., 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

29 

 

MORELAND ALTOBELLI ASSOCIATES, INC., AND MC SQUARED, INC. FOR ONE 

(1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING JULY 3, 2016 THROUGH JULY 2, 

2017, FOR GEOENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING 

THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 

THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-38  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BIDS OF 

THOMAS CONSULTANTS, INC. AND CENTRAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR HP 

(ARUBA) WIRELESS ACCESS POINTS FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JUNE 16, 

2016 THROUGH JUNE 15, 2017 FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT 

AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-39  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

AVAYA PARTNER ASSURANCE SUPPORT SERVICES (PASS), BEGINNING JULY 

1, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017, AMOUNTING TO $27,979.00 FROM AVAYA FOR 

THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-40  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

EQUIPMENT FOR TWO (2) INTERNET GATEWAY ROUTERS AMOUNTING TO 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

30 

 

$34,584.24 FROM POMEROY IT SOLUTIONS, INC. FROM THE STATE CONTRACT 

FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-41  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF A+ 

TECHNICAL SERVICES FOR DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS COMPUTER I OTHER 

ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACT NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-42  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

HARDWARE/SOFTWARE AND INSTALLATION FOR PBX TELEPHONE 

EQUIPMENT UPGRADES AMOUNTING TO $19,249.00 FROM COMMUNICATIONS 

RESOURCES, INC. (CRI) FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 616-43  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SIGN A CONTRACT IN THE AMOUNT OF $60,000 WITH THE CITY OF 

CHATTANOOGA FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY COURTS COMMUNITY SERVICE 

PROGRAM WITH A TERM BEGINNING JULY 1, 2016 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2017. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

31 

 

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 616-34 through 616-43, and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 616-34 through 616-43. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Graham announced that he and his family were praying for the 

victims of the Orlando shooting where 49 people were killed and 53 others injured at a 

night club.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

32 

 

 

Commissioner Boyd clarified that his “No” vote on Resolution No. 616-21 was a 

matter of procedure. He noted that he would not vote to fund an item that is contingent 

on the passing of the FY17 budget, before the budget has been adopted.  

 

Commissioner Smedley thanked Todd Leamon and Planning Commission 

Director John Bridger for participating in a community meeting that she hosted on 

Monday evening.  

 

Mayor Coppinger congratulated the Purchasing Department and Director Gail 

Roppo on receiving an accreditation from the National Association of Government 

Procurement. He noted that over 3,000 agencies participate in the group and only 140 

are selected for recognition. He thanked the staff of the Purchasing Department, and 

specifically mentioned Linda Chumbler, who recently announced her upcoming 

retirement. The Commission gave a round of applause.  

 

Chairman Bankston thanked Ms. Roppo for her work. He announced that Miss 

America would be having lunch with community members today at the Hunter Museum 

of Art.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 15, 2016 
 

33 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

  

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, June 29, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials  
 

 

 

 















































No. 716-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATH OF DEPUTY 
COUNTY CLERK, AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS.  

 
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled "OATH OF DEPUTY COUNTY 
CLERK" has taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS" have taken the oath of office. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants 
therefore; and 
 



 

 

2.  That persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
approved as taken; and 

 
3. That the person named on the listing labeled “OATH OF DEPUTY COUNTY 

CLERK” is accepted and the oath therefore is approved as taken; and  
 

4. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefore are approved as taken; and 

 
5. That each such person named on the listings hereinabove mentioned (which 

listings are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby 
deemed to have been individually considered according to the particular matter 
relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























No. 716-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  
A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT ONE MEMBER TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH AND SAFETY HEARING BOARD BEGINNING JULY 6, 2016 AND 
ENDING JULY 6, 2018. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners adopted Resolution Number 
599-14 establishing the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing Board; and 
 
WHEREAS, the term of the appointee representing the Commissioner of District One 
expired on July 3, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Ken Foster is hereby reappointed to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing 
Board for a two (2) year term beginning July 6, 2016 and ending July 6, 2018. 
 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 716-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPOINTMENT OF 
REPRESENTATIVES TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMUNITY 
CORRECTIONS ADVISORY BOARD 
 

WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Community Corrections Program is a valuable program 
                        that provides a sentencing alternative for non-violent offenders; and, 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to T.C.A. 40-36-201 et seq., in order to qualify for state funding under 
                        the felony program administered by the Tennessee Department of Corrections,  
                        a Community Corrections Advisory Board must be established; and, 

    
WHEREAS, representatives appointed to the board shall serve a two-year term  
                        beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2018; and 
 
WHEREAS,    the recent death of Bill Tittle created a vacancy on the board; and  
 
WHEREAS,    Barbara Payne has been nominated to serve the remainder of his term ending  
                        June 30, 2017; and 
                          
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY  
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

 
   The following individuals are hereby appointed to the Hamilton  County Community                

 d              Corrections Advisory Board: 
 

            REPRESENTATIVE   NOMINATED BY 
     

Barbara Payne                         County Mayor, Sheriff, District Attorney General 
Garrett Foster                           Tennessee Department of Correction 
Paul Pearce                                         Presiding Judge, 11th Judicial District 
Shawn Johnson                                   County Mayor  



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT AT AND 
FROM ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



Garrett C. Foster      

5750 Lake Resort Dr. Apt# L124  Chattanooga, TN 37415  Phone: (931)-698-2149  E-Mail: Garrett.Foster@TN.gov 

Education 

University of Tennessee at Chattanooga  

 Bachelor of Science in Criminal Justice: Graduated May 2014- GPA: 3.21 

 Master of Science in Criminal Justice: August 2014- Present- GPA: 3.50 

Relevant Experience 

Probation and Parole Officer II                     May 2015- Present 

Tennessee Department of Correction                            Chattanooga, TN 

• Monitor felony offenders to comply with state laws and conditions of the court. 

• Supervise a caseload of 170 using organization and time management.  

• Work closely with local, state, and federal agencies in order to provide safe environments for the community.   

Unarmed Security Guard Supervisor                  January 2011- Present 

Axis Security Inc.,                              Chattanooga, TN 

• Work with venue management, artists, production, and house staff to offer a safe setting by enforcing venue policies. 

• Supervise a team of 5-10 staff in order to ensure proper policy is followed and effective enforcement is completed.  

• Escort unruly or intoxicated patrons off the premise, and file incident reports with each and every incident that occurs. 

• Clearing the venue and premise of patrons at the end of the night.  

High/Low Ropes Course Lead Guide             April 2013- April 2015  

The Adventure Guild                         Chattanooga, TN  

• Prepare and inspect gear and courses and file signed waivers of participants. 

• Lead groups of participants through a crash course on safety and procedure and monitor groups through high/low ropes 
courses. 

• Preform interventions of participants from course when necessary and belaying participants on the rock-climbing wall.  

Intern                                                           January 2014- March 2014 

Hamilton County Sheriff’s Department                                                                           Chattanooga, TN 

• Shadow officers in differing departments and agencies in order to grasp an understanding of how the department functions 
internally and cooperates with other agencies to complete a mission.  

Unarmed Security Guard                                                                                                                                June 2013- November 2014 

Chattanooga Billards Club                                                                           Chattanooga, TN  

• Check IDs and answer phone calls 

• Enforce house policies and escort unruly patrons off the premise. 

• Identify signs of intoxication and use deductive reasoning to address each situation accordingly.  

 

 



      

 

2 

Certifications 

• CPR/AED Certified, 8/21/2015, renewed biannually  

• First Aid Certified, 8/21/2015, renewed biannually 

• Wilderness First Responder Certified (NOLS), 3/16/2014, renewed biannually   

• Licensed TN Unarmed Security Guard #425336, issued: 4/3/2014, renewed biannually  

• Crowd Management Certified (North Carolina Office of State Fire Marshal), expires 01/2018 

• Tennessee Correction Academy graduate, 8/21/2015 

• P.O.S.T. Certified Domestic Violence Investigator (UT Law Enforcement Innovation Center), issued 2/18/2016 

 

References: Upon Request 



 

 
 

CRIMINAL  COURT 
 

BARRY A. STEELMAN 
JUDGE 

DIVISION I 

 
STATE OF TENN ESSEE 

ELEVENTH  JUDICIAL  DISTRICT 

 

COURTS BUILDING 
CHATIA NOOGA , TENNESSEE 37402 

(423) 209-7574 
FAX: (423) 209-7575 

 
 

 
June 10, 2016 

 
 

 
Valda Cowan 
Hamilton County Community Corrections 
6215 Dayton Boulevard 
Hixson, TN 37343 

Dear Ms. Cowan: 

In response to your letter I am nominating Attorney Brian Pearce to the local 
Community Corrections Advisory Board. Mr. Pearce is a conscientious person and 
dedicated attorney.  I am confident that he will take this responsibility seriously and 
serve the Board well.  His resume is enclosed. 

 

 
 

djg 

enc. 



 

 
 

Physical Address 
4541 Solomon Seal Trail 
Chattanooga, TN 37415 
865.293.2753 
Ppearce85@gmail.com 

Paul Brian Pearce 
 
 

Law Office 
707 Georgia Ave, Suite 203 
Chattanooga, TN 37415 
423.567.4411 
Bpearce.law@gmail.com 

 

 
Sep. 04- 
May 08 

 
 

Sep. 2010- 
May 2013 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sep. 2014- 
Present 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Summer '11, '12 
Aug. 2013- 
Aug. 2014 

Education 
The University of Tennessee Knoxville, TN 
Bachelor of Science: Business Administration, Logistics 
Overall GPA: 3.6/4.0 

 
University of Tennessee College of Law Knoxville, TN 
Juris Doctor 
Overall GPA: 3.02/4.30 

 
Honors 

Dean's List from 2004-2008. Recipient of  Hope,  Volunteer, 
Unilever Logistics, Lloyd McCulloch, and William B. Stokely 
Scholarships. Graduated Cum Laude Undergrad. 

 
 

Work Experience 
Law Office of Brian Pearce 
Chattanooga, TN 
Attorney/Owner 
• Built and managed a successful sole practitioner law practice 

with focus on Criminal Defense, Divorce, and Civil Litigation 
with a typical docket of 30-40 cases. 

• Conducted dozens of preliminary and motions hearings. 
• Trial experience: 2 jury trials (DUI and Second Degree 

Murder), 5 bench trials on assorted misdemeanors. Four cases 
awaiting trial dates. 

• Appellate experience: Court of Criminal Appeals agreed with 
response to State's application for Rule 9 interlocutory appeal 
and denied  State's application. 

 
11th Judicial District Public Defender's Office 
Chattanooga, TN 
Intern; Temporary Assistant Public Defender 
• Resolve  a high volume  of Sessions  Court cases through  plea 

bargaining, preliminary hearing, trial, and revocation hearings. 
• Develop  strong,  trusting  attorney-client  relationships,  despite 

time restrictions imposed by high case-load. 

mailto:Ppearce85@gmail.com
mailto:Bpearce.law@gmail.com
mailto:Bpearce.law@gmail.com


Sep. 2012- 
May 2013 

Knoxville  Public Defender's Community Law Office 
Knoxville, TN 
Law Clerk 
• Authored motions and   researched legal   issues   to   assist 

attorneys with pending cases. 
• Worked   in   an   office   focused   on  holistic,   client-centered 

representation. 
 
 

Sep. 2011- 
May 2012 

University  of Tennessee Wrongful  Convictions 
Clinic Knoxville, TN 
Student Attorney 
• Investigate cases of alleged wrongful convictions. 
• Interviewed clients and witnesses and managed a file. 

 

Sep. 2009- 
Aug. 2010 

Presbyterian Community Outreach 
Slidell, LA 
Americorps  Volunteer/Construction Assistant 
• Non-Profit home repair and disaster relief. 
• Managed renovations on 12 homes in Slidell and New Orleans, 

Louisiana. 
• Supervised construction sites to ensure safety, quality of work, 

and productivity: 
 

May 2007- 
Aug-20091 

Appalachia Service Project 
Johnson City, TN 
Supply Coordinator, Finance Coordinator, Project Coordinator 
• Managed safe, timely, and successful repair of 42 homes. 
• Served client needs by ensuring  good communication,  timely 

completion of projects, and removal of all construction debris. 
 

Additional  Information 
 

President of the Tennessee College of Law Student Chapter of Tennessee Association of 
Criminal Defense Lawyers for 2012-2013 academic year; Completed UT College of Law 
Advocacy Concentration; UT College of Law Pro-Bono "Gold  Level"  with  over  400 
hours of Pro-Bono work; excellent research and writing skills; completed several 5k, 1Ok, 
and half-marathon races and the Nashville Hard Rock Marathon in November, 2013. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1 I worked for Appalachia Service Project in a summer staff position during the Summer of 2007, 2008, and 
2009, and as a project manager from September until December of 2008. 



No. 716-4 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO EAST TENNESSEE SYMPHONY 
ORCHESTRA IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL 
FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to East Tennessee 
Symphony Orchestra to assist with their Fourth of July Celebration; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra to assist with their Fourth of July Celebration. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 
 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 716-5 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO THE CHATTANOOGA GIRLS 
LEADERSHIP ACADEMY, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand Dollars 

($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to The Chattanooga Girls 
Leadership Academy, Inc., to assist with their golf tournament; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
The Chattanooga Girls Leadership Academy, Inc., to assist with their golf tournament. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 716-6 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO EAST TENNESSEE SYMPHONY 
ORCHESTRA IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL 
FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SEVEN. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Sabrena Smedley has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to East Tennessee 
Symphony Orchestra to assist with their Fourth of July Celebration; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra to assist with their Fourth of July Celebration. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 716-7 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO THE NATIONAL COALITION OF 100 
BLACK WOMEN CHATTANOOGA CHAPTER, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND 
FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, 
AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to allocate Two Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to The National 
Coalition of 100 Black Women Chattanooga Chapter, Inc., to assist with mentoring 
programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to The National Coalition of 100 Black Women Chattanooga Chapter, Inc., to assist with 
mentoring programs. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 



 

 

Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 
 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 716-8 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO LAKESIDE YOUTH ASSOCIATION IN 
THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to allocate Two Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Lakeside Youth 
Association to assist with team support; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to Lakeside Youth Association to assist with team support. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 716-9 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO THE LINKS FOUNDATION, INC., IN 
THE AMOUNT OF THREE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to allocate Three Thousand Dollars 

($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to The Links Foundation, Inc., to 
assist with program development; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Three Thousand Dollars ($3,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
The Links Foundation, Inc., to assist with program development. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 716-10 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE HAMILTON COUNTY 
SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HOSPITAL 
AUTHORITY d/b/a ERLANGER HEALTH SYSTEM TO PROVIDE MEDICAL SERVICES 
TO INMATES OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY JAIL.  
 
WHEREAS, to provide a safe environment for both the inmates and the public safety officials, 
along with the citizens of Hamilton County, in order to avoid the unnecessary transportation of 
inmates for medical care, Erlanger will provide all possible and reasonable medical services at 
the Hamilton County Jail’s Clinic; and 
 
WHEREAS, Erlanger has agreed to provide properly qualified medical staffing twenty-four 
hours per day, seven days per week as referred to in the agreement; 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office will reimburse the Erlanger Health System 
$828,192 per year in twelve equal monthly payments of $69,016, however any fees collected 
from the inmates as the result of medical and pharmaceutical co-pays will be retained by the 
County;  
 
WHEREAS, the period of the agreement will begin on July 1, 2016 for a total of three years, 
but may be extended for an additional two one year periods by mutual agreement from both 
parties. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
The Agreement referred to above between the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office and the 
Erlanger Health System is approved and accepted. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 716-11 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSALS OF PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY 
CONSULTANTS, INC. AND GILA LLC dba MUNICIPAL SERVICES BUREAU (MSB) 
TO PROVIDE DEBT COLLECTION SERVICES OF PAST DUE RECEIVABLES FOR 
THE OFFICE OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY CRIMINAL COURT CLERK AS WELL AS 
OTHER HAMILTON COUNTY OFFICES AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS;  proposals were received for a two (2) year contract with the option to renew for 

two additional two (2) year periods with the same terms and conditions and 
satisfactory performance of all criteria, to provide Debt Collection Services; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, proposals were evaluated based on the criteria listed in the Request for 

Proposal; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposals offered by Professional Recovery Consultants, Inc. and  Gila LLC 

dba Municipal Services Bureau (MSB) are the best proposals received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposals from Professional Recovery Consultants, Inc. and Gila LLC dba Municipal 
Services Bureau (MSB) to provide Debt Collection Services of past due receivables for the 
office of the Hamilton County Criminal Court Clerk as well as other Hamilton County Offices 
are hereby accepted, said proposals being the best proposals received and authorizing the 



 

 

County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 716-12 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF BEST BUY EDUCATION, VISIONS OF VIDEO, 
AND OM OFFICE SUPPLY, INC. FOR TELEVISIONS, WALL MOUNTS, MOBILE TV CARTS, 
AND PROMETHEAN BOARDS FOR MIDDLE VALLEY, NOLAN, AND WOLFTEVER 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS AMOUNTING TO $150,606.95 FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF 
EDUCATION AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for a total of (66) 70” LED 

LCD smart televisions, (25) 43” LED LCD televisions, (87) wall mounting brackets,  
(4) mobile TV carts, and (7) promethean boards for Middle Valley, Nolan, and 
Wolftever Elementary Schools for the  Department of Education; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bids from Best Buy Education, Visions of Video, and OM Office Supply, Inc. for 

televisions, wall mounts, mobile TV carts, and promethean boards amounting to 
$150,606.95 were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Best Buy Education, Visions of Video, and OM Office Supply, Inc. for televisions, 
wall mounts, mobile TV carts and promethean boards amounting to $150,606.95 for Middle Valley, 
Nolan, and Wolftever Elementary Schools for the Department of Education are hereby accepted, said 
bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 

































No. 716-13 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY TO DESIGNATE 
HAMILTON COUNTY PARKS AND RECREATION AS THE HOLDER OF A STREAM 
CONSERVATION EASEMENT UPON PROPERTY OWNED BY THE INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT BOARD (IDB) OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA WITHIN THE 
ENTERPRISE SOUTH INDUSTRIAL PARK. 
  
WHEREAS,  the Industrial Development Board (IDB) of the City of Chattanooga (City) 

owns certain property located at Enterprise South Industrial Park (ESIP), 
identified by State Tax Map No. 130-001.18 more particularly described in 
Attachment 1 of the attached easement (Protected Property); and,  

 
WHEREAS,  the United States Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) and the Tennessee 

Department of Environment and Conservation (TDEC) require that the IDB 
create a Stream Conservation Easement; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County Parks and Recreation (Holder) is an entity qualified to hold 

conservation easements and is a political subdivision of the State of 
Tennessee whose purpose it is to preserve, enhance, and conserve the 
aesthetic, scientific, charitable and educational purposes of  Protected 
Property; and,  

 
WHEREAS,  the Protected Property possesses significant ecological values of aesthetic and 

environmental benefit to the people of the State of Tennessee and the United 
States, and of great importance to the City and County; and,  

 
WHEREAS,  the Corps and TDEC have approved the Protected Property for use as stream 

mitigation, the purpose of which is to create 18,552 linear feet of stream 
pursuant to Section 404 and Section 401 of the Clean Water Act Section 10 of 
the Rivers and Harbor Act; and, 

 



 

 

WHEREAS,  Holder agrees to honor the intentions of the IDB as stated herein and to 
conserve and protect in perpetuity the conservation values of the Protected 
Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Conservation 
Easement.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners is hereby authorized on 

behalf of Hamilton County to designate Hamilton County Parks and 
Recreation as the Holder of a Stream Conservation Easement consisting of 
18,522 linear feet of stream, on property (Protected Property) owned by the 
Industrial Development Board (IDB) of the City of Chattanooga identified as 
State Tax Map No. 130-001.18 located at Enterprise South Industrial Park, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions contained within the attached 
easement agreement. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.    
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



































No. 716-14 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF MAY 1, 2016, THROUGH MAY 31, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between May 1, 2016, through May 31, 2016.  
 
 May 2, 2016, $5,264.95 for 2,900 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.8155 per 

gallon from Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 May 4, 2016, $9,885.58 for 7,256 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.362401 per gallon from Jat 

Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 May 4, 2016, $12,361.89 for 8,422 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.467809 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 May 4, 2016, $12,404.46 for 8,451 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.46781 per gallon from 

Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 May 9, 2016, $11,748.85 for 7,954 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.4771 per gallon from 

Pilot Travel Centers, LLC.  
 
 May 11, 2016, $10,240.46 for 7,459 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.3729 per gallon from 

Pilot Travel Centers, LLC.  
  
 May 16, 2016, $10,346.15 for 7,156 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.445801 per gallon from 

Parman Lubricants.  
 
 May 19, 2016, $2,907.01 for 1,150 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.98001 per 

gallon and 375 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.6800 per gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 May 20, 2016, $1,349.66 for 707 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.9090 from 



 

 

Collins Oil Company, Inc. 
 
 May 25, 2016,  $13,513.87 for 8,055 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6777 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc. 
 
 May 26, 2016, $11,157.23 for 7,142 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.5622 per gallon from 

Parman Lubricants. 
 
 May 26, 2016, $13,499.72 for 7,988 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6900 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
  
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 716-15 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $123,000.00 TO PROVIDE FEDERALLY 
FACILITATED MARKETPLACE APPLICATION ASSISTANCE TO PREGNANT WOMEN FOR THE TIME 
PERIOD JULY 1, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017. 
 
WHEREAS, early prenatal care is paramount in having good birth outcomes for mother and baby; 

and 
 
WHEREAS, TennCare provides Prenatal Presumptive Eligibility to those pregnant women who 

qualify; and 
 
WHEREAS,  this Prenatal Presumptive Eligibility covers medical costs associated with the  

pregnancy for forty-five (45) days; and 
 
WHEREAS,  at the end of this period, pregnant women must have completed Federally    Facilitated 

Marketplace application in order for the medical coverage to continue; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State of TN has identified funds to provide Federally Facilitated Marketplace 

application assistance in Health Departments across Tennessee; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Health Department has identified staff to serve as Certified Application Counselors 

in our clinics in Hamilton County. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached continuation contract for the provision of 
Federally Facilitated Marketplace Assistance to pregnant women in Hamilton County for time period 
July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER IT 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.   
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































No. 716-16 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY 
TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-
HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO ACCEPT AN  AGREEMENT BEGINNING 
JULY 1, 2016 AND ENDING ON   JUNE 30, 2017, BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE CITY 
OF CHATTANOOGA IN THE AMOUNT OF $30,000.00 TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO 
FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS TO PREVENT THOSE FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS FROM 
BECOMING HOMELESS. 
 
WHEREAS,  the City of Chattanooga has received Emergency Solutions Grant funds  

from the Department of Housing and Urban Development; and 
 

WHEREAS,  these funds are to be used to assist individuals and families imminently at  
risk of homelessness in maintaining permanent housing; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Chattanooga seeks to subcontract with Hamilton County to  

distribute these funds through the Emergency Assistance Program; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Hamilton County Emergency Assistance Program already provides  

temporary assistance to individuals and families with a mission to prevent 
homelessness and foster self sufficiency. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
  That the County Mayor is authorized to accept an agreement between Hamilton  

County and the City of Chattanooga in the amount of $30,000.00 to provide financial 
assistance to families and individuals for the prevention of homelessness. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 1 

Contractual Agreement 
Between 

City of Chattanooga 
And 

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT 
For 

Emergency Solutions Grant Funds (ESG) 
 

in the amount of $30,000  
  

Project/Program: EMERGENCY ASSISTANCE 
  

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the City of Chattanooga, 
Tennessee, acting through the Department of Economic and Community Development with 
principal offices at 101 East Eleventh Street, Suite 200, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402, as part of 
the first party hereinafter called "City" or "Grantor", and HAMILTON COUNTY 
GOVERNMENT, a nonprofit corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the State of 
Tennessee, with principal offices at 208 Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, TN 37402, and 
its subcontractors, as part of the second party, hereinafter jointly called, “ECD”, "Subrecipient" or 
“Grantee”. 
 

WITNESSETH 
 
WHEREAS, the City has received Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) to be used for activities 
eligible under the McKinney-Vento Act of 1988 (Public Law 100-77) with said grant being made 
available through the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Subrecipient is involved in ESG eligible activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Subrecipient has requested $30,000 for the ESG eligible activities described in 
PART I; and 
 
WHEREAS, this activity has been determined to be an eligible ESG activity according to 24 CFR 
Part 576 as amended; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Subrecipient has agreed to provide services funded through this contract free from 
political activities, religious influences or requirements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Chattanooga has approved this Project and allocated the 
necessary funds to the Project: and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties of this agreement for the consideration set forth below, do here 
and now agree to bind themselves to the following terms and conditions: 
 
 

 
 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 2 

 
 

PART I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
1. Purpose and Scope of Services 

 
A. ESG Project Description 

 
The Subrecipient will use ESG funds, provided by the City of Chattanooga, for eligible costs 
for the Emergency Assistance Program for homeless prevention and rapid-rehousing for 30 
households. Funds will be utilized for case management services, emergency temporary 
housing, utility deposits, and other needs necessary to result in permanent housing, 
sustainability and encourage self-sufficiency. The Subrecipient will be responsible for 
administering the project/program in a manner satisfactory to the City and consistent with 
any standards required as a condition of providing these funds. Funds are provided for the 
following approved activities described below:  

 
i. Category 

      
 Shelter Operations  Street Outreach  Rapid Re-Housing 
 Prevention   HMIS 

 
ii. Eligible Activity: Prevention and Rapid Rehousing 

 
iii. Eligible Costs Covered: $30,000 

 
iv. Location: 921 E. Third Street, Chattanooga TN  37402 

 
v. Specific Target Beneficiaries: Homeless and/or near homeless individuals and 

families 
 

vi. Project Implementation: July 1, 2016 

 
B. Eligible Project Costs 

 
ESG funds may be used for case management services, emergency temporary housing, utility 
deposits, and other needs necessary to encourage self-sufficiency.  The City will reimburse 
the Sub-recipient up to a maximum of $30,000 to toward eligible costs.  
 

C. Target Beneficiaries 

i. Funds are to provide for homeless prevention and rapid-rehousing for 30 
households receiving case management and/or supportive social services at the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to assist program participants in 
obtaining or regaining permanent housing stability. Subrecipient will maintain 
program and financial recoreds documenting eligibility, provisions of services, and 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 3 

Subrecipient’s expenses relative to the project/program as a result of assistance 
provided. 

ii. The minimum eligibility criteria for ESG beneficiaries are as follows: For essential 
services related to street outreach, beneficiaries must meet the criteria under 
paragraph (1)(i) of the “homeless” definition under § 576.2.  For emergency shelter, 
beneficiaries must meet the “homeless” definition in 24 CFR 576.2.  For essential 
services related to emergency shelter, beneficiaries must be “homeless” and staying 
in an emergency shelter (which could include a day shelter). For homelessness 
prevention assistance, beneficiaries must meet the requirements described in 24 CFR 
576.103. For rapid re-housing assistance, beneficiaries must meet requirements 
described in 24 CFR 576.104. Further eligibility criteria may be established at the 
local level in accordance with 24 CFR 576.400(e). 

 

2. National Objectives and Outcomes 
 
The Subrecipient certifies that the activities carried out with funds provided under this 
Agreement will meet one or more of the ESG program's National Objectives - 1) engage 
homeless individuals and families living on the street; 2) improve the number and quality of 
emergency shelters for homeless individuals and families; 3) help operate these shelters; 4) 
provide essential services to shelter residents, 5) rapidly re-house homeless individuals and 
families, and 6) prevent families and individuals from becoming homeless.  As defined in CFR 
Part 570.201(e), this project has been determined to meet the following national objective and 
outcomes: 

 
A. Service Area: 921 E. Third Street, Chattanooga, TN  37402 
B. National Objective: Prevention 
C. CFR Citation: 24 CFR Part 576 
D. Program Objective: Suitable Living Environment Through Improved Accessibility 
E. Program Outcome: Enhance Suitable Living Environment Through Improved/New 

Accessibility 
F. Measurable Outcome: 30 households or individuals to obtain or retain permeant housing 

and self-suffienciecy. 
 
3. Implementation Schedule and Time of Performance 
 

A. Program Performance Timeline 
 

The Subrecipient shall perform the activities for the Project/Program under this Agreement 
during the timeframe beginning July 1, 2016 and ending on June 30, 2017. However, the City 
reserves the right to extend the terms of this Agreement and any necessary and applicable 
provisions herein to cover any additional time period during which the Subrecipient remains in 
control of ESG funds or other assets.  
 
Task/Milestone    Proposed Date of Completion 

     Case Management      June 30, 2017 
 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 4 

           
 

B. Project Performance 
 
i. Unless amended by mutual written agreement by the Subrecipient and the City, the 

Subrecipient will perform the described tasks in conformance with the schedule below. 
The City will monitor the performance of the subrecipient against goals and 
performance as stated. If the Subrecipient fails to adhere to the performance outcomes 
indicated below, the following actions will be taken: 

 
a. A formal letter will be sent from the City reminding the Subrecipient of their 

obligations and the time frame and outcomes for which the Subrecipient has for 
getting back on schedule. If the problem is not rectified; 

 
1) Technical assistance will be provided to the Subrecipient to assist in helping 

to correct the deficiency. If the problem still persists; 
 

2) The Subrecipient may be found in breach of contract and all remaining 
funding may be pulled and reallocated. All expended funding may be repaid 
to the City for reallocation. 

 
ii. Grantee agrees to abide by all rules and regulations related to the tenant’s and 

landlord’s rights and responsibilities, and to adhere to HUD’s approved tenant 
applications and lease agreements and to the State of Tennessee’s Landlord and Tenant 
Act; all of which the City will provide to Grantee. 
 

C.   Project Completion  

The project will be considered complete when all ESG funds have been expended for that 
fiscal year, and all reporting has been received, including, but not limited to: quarterly 
reports and APR reports. 

4. Budget and Match Requirement 
 

A. Budget 
 

Eligible expenses will be covered up to $30,000 and will include Provide case management 
services, emergency temporary housing, utility deposits, and other needs necessary to encourage 
self-sufficiency,  Any amount of ESG funds unexpended at the end of the year will be allowed 
to carry over into future projects, at the City’s discretion.  

 
 
Budget Item 

Funding Source  
TOTAL ESG Other 

Emergency Assistance 
Program 

$30,000 $30,000 $60,000 

      $      $      $      



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 5 

TOTALS $30,000 $30,000 $60,000 
 

The City may require a more detailed budget breakdown than the one contained herein, and the 
Subrecipient shall provide such supplementary budget information in a timely fashion in the form 
and content prescribed by the City. Any amendments to this budget must be approved in writing by 
the City and the Subrecipient.  
 

B. Match Requirement   
 
The Subrecipient shall match the funds provided in this agreement as set forth in 24 CFR 
576.201.  Eligibility of matching fund sources shall be subject to review and approval by the 
City.  In the event the City determines that the Subrecipient’s match funds are not in 
compliance with HUD regulations, policies, or directives, the City may, in its sole discretion, 
either: i)suspend this agreement as provided in PART VII; or ii) reduce the total funding 
amount proportionate to the ineligible match funds. 
 

i. Match Funds Amount: $30,000 
 

ii. Source of Match Funds: In Kind  
 

iii. Manner and time schedule in which match funds will be infused into the 
project/program/activity: In-Kind Match will be infused into the project within the 
2016-2017 FY. 

 
 
5. General Administration 

 
A. The Subrecipient understands that these funds are made available through the United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). To facilitate the receipt of these 
funds the Subrecipient agrees to comply with all applicable City, State, and HUD 
requirements. Without limitation, the Subrecipient specifically agrees to abide with all of the 
applicable requirements of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act As Amended by 
S.896 HEARTH Act of 2009, and all additional documents, notices, rules, regulations or 
statues, as subsequently developed, that relate to ESG. 
 

B. The Grantee will comply with applicable ESG Regulations in 24 C.F.R. Part 576 as now in 
effect, and as such law may be amended during the term of this contract. Grantee will also 
comply with the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements set forth in this contract and in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, (which have been adopted 
by HUD through 2 C.F.R. Part 2400) as now in effect, and as such law may be amended 
during the term of this contract, or any reasonably equivalent procedures and requirements 
that the Department may prescribe.  
 

C. In particular, Grantee agrees to establish internal controls in order to have reasonable 
assurance that Grantee is carrying out the Project in compliance with federal statutes, 
regulations, and terms and conditions of this contract, as required by 2 C.F.R. §200.303, as 
now in effect, and as such law may be amended during the term of this contract.  Grantee 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 6 

also agrees to comply with provisions regarding protection of personally identifiable 
information as required by 2 C.F.R. §200.303 and 2 C.F.R. §200.512 as now in effect, and as 
such law may be amended during the term of this contract. 
 

D. The Subrecipient will be responsible for administering the ESG funded Project/Program in 
a manner satisfactory to the City and consistent with any standards required as a condition 
of providing these funds. The Subrecipient will maintain program and financial records 
documenting eligibility, provisions of services, and Subrecipient's expenses relative to the 
program/project.  
 

E. The City will provide technical assistance to the Subrecipient and monitor the Subrecipient’s 
performance against goals and performance standards required herein. Subrecipient will not 
undertake activities or expend ESG funds until, at minimum;  
 

i. Subrecipient has been notified by the City that the activity is in compliance with the 
National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 and 24 CFR Part 58. 

 
F. The Subrecipient shall be responsible for all bidding procedures and sub-contractual 

arrangements. All procedures shall be conducted in accordance with all federal, state and 
local laws, and shall be monitored by the City. 
 

G. Subrecipient will be responsible for developing and managing a strategy to market the 
Project/Program to qualified homeowners/tenants/recipients of services meet the definition 
of homeless as defined by HUD at 24 CFR 576.2. Subrecipient will ensure that the 
property/program is properly marketed to obtain maximum exposure to target audience.  

 
 
6. Staffing/Organizational Capacity  

 
Subrecipient must maintain overall capacity to continue as a going concern through the term of the 
contract. The Subrecipient shall retain and assign qualified personnel, as applicable, to carryout 
activities/programs through the term of the Agreement. The following staff/key personnel are 
assigned this Project/Program. 
 
Staff Member Duties 
Tammie Browning  Intake Specialist 
Miika Montgomery Manager 
            

 
7. City and Subrecipient Contacts  

 
Communication and details concerning this contract shall be directed to the following contract 
representatives: 
 
City of Chattanooga Subrecipient 
Paula Coleman Miika Montgomery 
City of Chattanooga Community Services Manager      



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 7 

101 E 11th Street, Suite 200 921 East Third Street 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 Chattanooga, TN  37403 
Email:  coleman_p@chattanooga.gov Email: miikam@hamiltontn.gov 
Phone:  (423) 643-7331 Phone:  423-209-8375 

 
 
8. Compensation and Method of Payment 

 
A. The City shall pay and the Subrecipient agrees to accept in full no more than $30,000 

("Allocation") for performance under this Agreement. All payments under this agreement are 
subject to the City of Chattanooga’s receipt of ESG funds, from HUD, sufficient to cover 
“Allocation”. 

 
B. Based on the approved budget, payments shall be made on a reimbursement basis, upon 

presentation of purchase agreements and original invoices, original cancelled checks and/or 
other source documents demonstrating that costs have been incurred and paid. Payments 
will only be made for approved, eligible expenses actually incurred by the Grantee per 
contractual agreement(s). Total payments will not exceed actual funds needed to complete 
the activity funded by Grant. At the City’s discretion and with prior arrangement and 
approval, the City will make payments directly to the Grantee’s vendor if payment by 
reimbursement creates an undue hardship on the organization. 
 

C. Requests for reimbursements for the payment of eligible expenses shall be made against the 
line item budget specified in Part I (4)(A) herein and in accordance with performance. If 
applicable, project delivery may be requested in an amount not to exceed 10% of the grant 
amount, (corresponding with project completion percentages). Project delivery may be 
requested along with direct cost reimbursement requests or at the conclusion of the project. 
Total project delivery reimbursement will not exceed 10% of grant funds expended on direct 
project costs. Eligible project delivery costs include: 

i. Application processing  
ii. Specific program/project marketing 
iii. Salaries/benefits for staff directly working on program/project 

 
D. Project/Program Budget spreadsheet summarizing expenses must be prepared and 

submitted with each request for reimbursement. This report should also account for other 
resources and match utilized under this activity. Copies of all supporting documents must be 
submitted with the reimbursement request. The subrecipient will work closely with the City 
to establish the specific documentation requirements for this contract. Examples of 
supporting documentation include copies of timesheets, pay stubs, mileage reports, invoices, 
statements, receipts, etc. 
 

E. Requests for reimbursement will not be processed prior to the following, at minimum: 
i. The City having conducted an environmental review on the project;  
ii. The City having on file a completed ESG Program project set-up form; and 
iii. The City having on file, current, up-to-date Quarterly Status Reports. 

 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 8 

F. The City will not provide advance funding to the Subrecipient. Advanced funding is not 
meant to include eligible unpaid cost incurred by Subrecipient. The Subrecipient may not 
request disbursement of ESG funds until the funds are needed for eligible costs incurred.  
 

G. In lieu of reimbursements to Subrecipient, the City may, at its discretion and with prior 
approval, make direct payments to the Subrecipient’s vendor for eligible costs incurred 
under this Agreement. 
 

H. If the City disburses ESG funds to Subrecipient on a basis other than reimbursement, the 
ESG funds must be expended by within seven days of its receipt for the requested 
disbursement from the City. Subrecipient may not request disbursement of funds until the 
funds are needed for payment of eligible costs. The amount of each request must be limited 
to the amount needed. 
 

I. The Subrecipient shall not use these funds for any purpose other than the purpose set forth 
in this Agreement. 
 

J. The Subrecipient shall maintain a separate accounting for these funds. 
 

K. Subrecipient shall have an adequate financial system and internal fiscal controls. 
 

L. The final request for payment must be submitted to the City no later than 30 days after the 
expiration date of this Agreement in order to meet federal grant requirements. Funds spent 
after this date will not be reimbursed.  
 

M. At project completion, any unexpended funds shall be retained by the City.  Upon written 
request, the City may consider the reallocation of unexpended funds to eligible projects 
proposed by Subrecipient. 
 

N. All payments under this agreement are subject to receipt by the City of sufficient federal 
funds for the ESG program. ESG funds shall be drawn from the U.S. Treasury by the City 
through the Integrated Disbursement and Information System (IDIS).  The City shall retain 
exclusive direct access rights to the IDIS system. All access to the IDIS system will be by 
duly authorized persons designated by the City as approved by HUD.  Any termination, 
reduction or delay of receipt of ESG funds to the City shall, at the option of the City, result 
in the termination, reduction or delay of ESG funds to the Grantee. 
 

O. Pre-Award Costs 
 

To insure the timely start-up or uninterrupted continuation of Subrecipient programs and 
activities: 

 
i. With prior written approval from the City, Subrecipient may incur pre-award costs up 

to ninety (90) days prior to the effective date of the Agreement. 
 

ii. Pre-award costs incurred by the Subrecipient must be necessary for the effective and 
economical conduct of the project, and the costs must be otherwise eligible in 
accordance with federal guidelines and Agreement. 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 9 

 
iii. Any pre-award costs are made at the Subrecipient's risk.  The incurring of pre-award 

costs by the Subrecipient does not impose any obligation on the City to reimburse 
such costs in the absence of appropriations of federal funds, if an award is not 
subsequently made, or if an award is made for a lesser amount than the Subrecipient 
anticipated receiving. 

 
9.  Performance Monitoring  

 
A. The Subrecipient’s performance will be based on adherence to all requirements outlined in 

this document. Failure to adhere particularly to requirements outlined at PART I (1-6) will 
be deemed, by the City to be substandard performance by Subrecipient. 
 

B. If the issue(s) attributable to the substandard performance is/are not satisfactorily addressed 
within the timeframe provided by the City, at its discretion the City may recapture any or all 
remaining funds available to the Subrecipient hereunder.  Thereafter, the Subrecipient shall 
have no right or authority to request additional ESG funds hereunder and the Agreement 
may be terminated. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Subrecipient shall be subject to the 
requirements and period of affordability relating to all activities, if any, completed with ESG 
funds prior to the date of recapture and/or termination of the Agreement. 

 
 
PART II. TERM AND CONDITIONS 
 
1. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date when the Agreement is signed by the 

Mayor of the City of Chattanooga and shall end at the completion of all program activities, but 
in no event, no earlier than any additional time period during which the Subrecipient remains in 
control of ESG funds or other assets, including program income generated from ESG funds, or 
according to PART VII, SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION. 
 

2. The City may, from time to time, request changes in the scope of the Agreement and obligations 
to be performed hereunder by the Subrecipient.  Any such changes that are mutually agreed 
upon by and between the City and the Subrecipient shall be incorporated herein by written 
amendment to this Agreement. 
 

3. Upon expiration of the agreement any remaining ESG funds and accounts receivable 
attributable to the use of ESG funds must be transferred to the City. 

 
4. Rent Limits 

 
ESG funds may only be used for rental housing which adheres to the HUD Income Limits and 
Fair Market Rents under 570.208(a).  

 
5. Property Standards    

 
A. Subrecipient agrees that housing occupied by households assisted with ESG funds must 

meet all applicable local codes, rehabilitation standards, ordinances, and zoning ordinances at 
the time of occupancy, except as provided by local code.  



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 10 

  
B. Prior to occupancy, a minimum property standards inspection must be performed by a 

qualified City staff member. 
 
 

6. Tenant and Participation Protection 
 

Subrecipient will comply with all tenant and participant protections according to 24 CFR 570 
Subpart K and Tennessee Landlord-Tenant Laws on all rental properties assisted with ESG 
funds. 

 
7. Coordination with Other Targeted Homeless Services.  The Subrecipient shall coordinate 

and integrate, to the maximum extent practicable, ESG-funded activities with other programs 
targeted to homeless people in the area covered by the Continuum of Care or area over which 
the services are coordinated to provide a strategic, community-wide system to prevent and end 
homelessness for the area as set forth at 24 CFR 576.400(b). 

8. System and Program Coordination with Mainstream Resources.  The Subrecipient must 
coordinate and integrate, to the maximum extent practicable, ESG-funded activities with 
mainstream housing, health, social services, employment, education, and youth programs for 
which families may be eligible as set forth at 24 CFR 576.400C 

 
9. Centralized or Coordinated Assessment.  The Subrecipient shall work with the Continuum of 

Care to ensure the screening, assessment and referral of program participants are consistent with 
the written standards required by the City.  A victim service provider may choose not to use the 
Continuum of Care’s centralized or coordinated assessment system as set forth at 24 CFR 
576.400(d). 

 
10. Client Evaluation.  The Subrecipient shall conduct an initial evaluation to determine the 

eligibility of each individual or family’s eligibility for ESG assistance and the amount and types 
of assistance the individual or family needs to regain stability in permanent housing.  These 
evaluations must be conducted in accordance with the centralized or coordinated assessment 
requirements set forth under 576.400(d) and the written standards established under 576.400(e). 

 
11. Re-Evaluations for Rapid Re-Housing Assistance.  The Subrecipient must re-evaluate the 

program participant’s eligibility and the types and amounts of assistance the program participant 
needs not less than once annually for program participants receiving rapid-re-housing assistance 
as outlined in 24 CFR 576.401(e). 

 
12. Annual Income.  When determining the annual income of an individual or family, the 

Subrecipient must use the standard for calculating annual income under 24 CFR 5.609 as 
outlined in 24 CFR 576.409 (e). 

 
13. Connecting program Participants to Mainstream and other Resources.  The Subrecipient 

must assist each program participant, as needed, to obtain appropriate supportive services as 
outlined in 24 CFR 576.401(e). 

 
14. Terminating Assistance.  If a program participant violates program requirements; the 

Subrecipient may terminate the assistance in accordance with a formal process established by the 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 11 

Subrecipient that recognizes the rights of individuals affected.  The Subrecipient must exercise 
judgment and examine all extenuating circumstances in determining when violations warrant 
termination so that a program participant’s assistance is terminated only in the most severe cases 
as outlined in 24 CFR 576.402. 

 
15. Housing Stability Case Management.  The Subrecipient must follow the requirements for 

housing stability case management outlined in 24 CFR 576.401(e). 
 

16. Confidentiality.  The Subrecipient understands that client information collected under this 
agreement is private and the use or disclosure of such information, when not directly connected 
with the administration of the City’s or Subrecipient’s responsibilities with respect to services 
provided under this agreement, is prohibited without lawful court order unless written consent is 
obtained from such person receiving service and, in the case of a minor, that of a responsible 
parent/guardian.  The subrecipient shall ensure the confidentiality of client data pertaining to the 
provision of family violence prevention or treatment services as listed in 24 CFR 576.500(x). 

 
17. Minimum Standards for Emergency Shelters.  Any building for which Emergency Solutions 

Grant funds are used for conversion, major rehabilitation, or other renovation, must meet state 
or local government safety and sanitation standards, as applicable, and the minimum safety, 
sanitation and privacy standards listed in 24 CFR 476.403(b)(1-11). 

 
18. Minimum Standards for Permanent Housing.  The Subrecipient cannot use ESG funds to 

help a program participant remain or move into housing that does not meet the minimum 
habitability standards provided in 24 CFR 576.403 (e)(1-10). 

 
19. Participation of Homeless Persons in Policy-Making and Operations.  The Subrecipient 

understands they are required to involve not less than one homeless individual or formerly 
homeless individual on the board of directors or other equivalent policymaking entity of the 
agency, to the extent that the entity considers and makes policies and decisions regarding any 
facilities, services, or other assistance that receive funding under Emergency Solutions Grant.  
The Subrecipient also agrees that to the maximum extent practicable, they will involve, through 
employment, volunteer services, or otherwise, homeless individuals and families in constructing, 
renovating, maintaining, and operating facilities assisted under this agreement and in providing 
services for occupants of facilities assisted under this agreement as listed in 24 CFR 576.405 in 
accordance with 42 U.S.C. 11365 (d) and 42 U.S.C. 11375 (e)(7). 
 

 
PART III.  PROGRAM INCOME/RECAPTURED FUNDS 
 
1. Program Income 

 
A. Unless indicated otherwise, all other income generated from ESG Program activities is 

considered program income. All program income generated from ESG-assisted projects 
must be tracked and remitted to the City, at minimum, on a monthly basis.  
 

B. If, at any time, the City permits the Subrecipient to retain program income, program income 
retained by Subrecipient will be expended/disbursed first (prior to making requests for 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 12 

reimbursements) and will only be expended on eligible ESG activities with pre-approval 
from the City.  
 

C. Funds recaptured because housing no longer meets the affordability requirements under 24 
CFR 570.503 (b)(3) is program income and subject to the requirements of 24 CFR Part 570. 
 

D. Subrecipient agrees that any program income (repayment, interest, and other return of ESG 
funds) will be remitted to the City with support documentation defining the source of the 
program income under 570.504.   
 

E. In accordance with 24 CFR 570.503 (b)(7), Subrecipient shall transfer to the City upon 
expiration of this contract, any ESG funds on hand at the time of expiration and any 
accounts receivable attributable to the use of ESG funds. Any real property under the 
Subrecipient’s control that was acquired or improved in whole or in part with ESG funds in 
excess of $25,000 must either: 

i. Be used to meet one of the national objectives in 24 CFR 570.208 for at least five years 
after the expiration of this Agreement; or 

 
ii. Be disposed of in a manner that results in the City being reimbursed in the amount of 

the current fair market value of the property less any portion of the value attributable 
to expenditures of non-ESG funds for acquisition of, or improvement to, the property. 

 
iii. In the event that the subrecipient should cease to be a nonprofit entity, liquidate, 

dissolve, or cease to operate, the subrecipient agrees to assign and transfer to the City 
of Chattanooga all its rights, title and interest in real property that was purchased and 
improved using CDBG, HOME Investment Act, and ESG funds. 

 
F. Any ESG funds invested in housing that is terminated before completion, either voluntarily 

or otherwise, must be repaid by Subrecipient.  

 
PART  IV. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE PROJECT REQUIREMENTS  
 
1. Financial Management 

 
A. Accounting Standards 

i. The Grantee agrees to comply with 2 CFR 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and 
agrees to adhere to the accounting principles and procedures required therein, utilize 
adequate internal controls, and maintain necessary source documentation for all costs 
incurred.  

B. Cost Principles 

i. The Grantee shall administer its program in conformance with 2 CFR 200. These 
principles will be applied for all costs incurred whether charged on a direct or indirect 
basis. 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 13 

C. The Grantee certifies that work to be performed under this Agreement does not duplicate 
any work to be charged against any other contract, subcontract or other source 
 

2. Documentation and Recordkeeping 
 

A. The Grantee agrees to keep the following records: (1) records as specified in 24 C.F.R. 
§570.506, Records to be Maintained; (2) adequate documentation to support costs charged 
to the ESG Program; (3) records detailing procurement procedures followed by Grantee; (4) 
as required by 24 C.F.R §570.490, for fair housing and equal opportunity purposes, records 
that include data on the racial, ethnic, and gender characteristics of persons who are 
applicants for, participants in, or beneficiaries of the Project; and (5) any other records as the 
Department may reasonably require. 
 

B. All records pertinent to this Agreement and work undertaken as part of the 
Project/Activity/Program, will be retained by the Grantee for the period  required by 2 CFR 
200.33, as interpreted by HUD,  and applied to the ESG Program through 24 CFR 570.490. 
Financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, and all other records pertinent 
to activities under this Agreement must be retained for a period of three years from the date 
of submission of the final expenditure report for activities. Records for equipment or real 
property acquired and or improved with Federal funds must be retained for 3 years after 
final disposition.   
 

C. Grantee also agrees to comply with the methods for collection, transmission and storage of 
information as described in 2 C.F.R §200.335. 

D. Records to be Maintained 
i. The Grantee shall maintain all records that are pertinent to the activities to be funded 

under this Agreement, including but not limited to: 
 
a. Records providing a full description of each activity undertaken; 
b. Records required to document the acquisition, improvement, use or disposition 

of real property acquired or improved with ESG assistance; 
c. Records documenting compliance with the fair housing and equal opportunity 

components of the ESG program; and 
d. Financial records as required by 2 CFR 200. 

 
E. Client Data 

 
The Grantee shall maintain client data demonstrating client eligibility for services provided. 
Such data shall include, but not be limited to, signed verification of income statement, or 
other basis for determining eligibility, and description of service provided. Such information 
shall be made available to City monitors or their designees for review upon request during 
the affordability period and for at least seven (7) years following the conclusion of this 
agreement. 

 
F. National Objective and Eligibility 

 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 14 

The Grantee agrees to maintain documentation demonstrating that the activities carried out 
with ESG funds provided under this Agreement benefit homeless persons, as defined in 24 
CFR Part 576 Subpart B and 24 CFR 576.2. 

 
3. Procurement 

 
A. The Grantee will provide to the City, documentation evidencing adoption of procurement 

standards in compliance with provisions of federal law as now in effect, and as such law may 
be amended during the term of this contract, including but not limited to, 24 C.F.R. Part 85, 
24 C.F.R. §570.489, and 2 C.F.R. §§200.317 through 200.326, with emphasis on the 
provisions in 2 C.F.R. §200.322 regarding procurement of recovered materials.  Such 
procurement standards must include written standards of conduct covering conflicts of 
interest and governing the actions of Grantee’s employees engaged in the selection, award 
and administration of contracts.   

 
i. The Grantee shall provide goods and services in accordance with a written agreement.  

For Grantees who are administering a portion of a ESG funded program, the any sub-
contracts must include at a minimum the following provisions: 

a. Use of the ESG funds.  The Contract must describe the use of the ESG funds, 
including the tasks to be performed, a schedule for completing the tasks, a 
budget, and the length of the Contract. 

b. Program requirements.  The Contract must list the requirements applicable to 
the activities the contractor is administering. 

c. Duration of the Contract.  The Contract must specify the duration of the 
Contract.  Generally, the duration of a contract should not exceed two years.  

 
4. Compliance 

 
In the event of termination for cause as provided in Part VII paragraph 1 or termination for 
convenience as provided in paragraph 2, a pro-rated portion of program assets (unexpended 
program income, property, equipment, etc.) attributable to the City’s ESG investment shall 
revert to the City upon termination of this Agreement, as provided in Paragraph 1 or Paragraph 
2. 
 

5. OMB Standards 
 
The Grantee shall procure materials in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR 200. 

 
6. Amendments 

 
The City or Grantee may amend this Agreement at any time provided that such amendments are 
executed in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of both organizations. Such 
amendments shall not invalidate this Agreement, nor relieve or release the City or Grantee from 
its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
7. The City shall have no responsibility or liability for the maintenance, operation, or program   

funding for the Subrecipient. 
 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 15 

8. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to, or shall be construed in any manner, as 
creating or establishing the relationship of employer/employee between the parties. The 
Subrecipient shall at all times remain an independent contractor with respect to the services to 
be performed under this Agreement. The City shall be exempt from payment of all 
unemployment compensation, FICA, retirement, life and/or medical insurance and workers' 
compensation insurance as the Subrecipient is an independent contractor. 

9. Insurance 
 

A. At no additional cost to the City, the Subrecipient will procure and maintain, for the 
duration of this Agreement, insurance of the types and in the amounts described below 
against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement by Subrecipient, its agents, 
representatives, employees, volunteers, or subcontractors. 
 

B. The Subrecipient, Subcontractors, Consultants or Material Suppliers shall not commence 
work on the Project prior to providing, to the City’s satisfaction, written evidence of 
conformance with all insurance requirements set forth herein.  Insurance shall be placed by 
the Subrecipient with one or more insurance carriers licensed to do business in the State of 
Tennessee.  Each insurance policy shall be renewed ten (10) days before the expiration date 
of the policy. 
 

C. Certificates of insurance shall be filed with the City prior to commencement of the work.  
These certificates shall contain a provision that coverages afforded under the policies will 
not be changed or canceled unless at least fifteen (15) days’ written notice has been given to 
the City.  The Contract shall not be binding upon the City until the insurance coverage 
required herein has been obtained and certificates have been filed with the City. 
 

i. Workmen's Compensation Insurance that shall protect the Subrecipient against all 
claims under applicable state workmen's compensation laws shall be maintained.  The 
Subrecipient shall also be protected against claims for injury, disease, or death of 
employees which, for any reason, may not fall within the provisions of a workmen's 
compensation law.  This policy shall also include an endorsement providing coverage 
in all states in which work is performed.  The Subrecipient shall require all 
Subcontractors to provide similar Workmen's Compensation Insurance for all 
Subcontractors' employees on the work unless such employees are covered by the 
protection afforded by the Subrecipient.  The liability limits shall not be less than that 
required by the statute. 

 
ii. General Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance that shall be written in 

comprehensive form and shall protect the Subrecipient against all claims arising from 
injuries including death, to members of the Public or damage to property of others 
arising out of any act or omission of the Subrecipient or his agents, employees, or 
Subcontractors.  In addition, this policy shall specifically insure the contractual liability 
assumed by the successful proposer to defend and indemnify the City of Chattanooga 
against such claims or suits. 

 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 16 

a. The general public liability and property damage insurance shall carry an 
endorsement in form satisfactory to the City to the effect that the Subrecipient 
shall save harmless the City from any claims and damage whatsoever, including 
patent infringement.  General public liability and property damage insurance shall 
be kept in force at all times during the course of the work until such time as the 
work covered by these Contract Documents has been completed and accepted 
by the City. 
 

b. To the extent that the work may require blasting, explosive conditions or 
underground operation, the Comprehensive General Public Liability and 
Property Damage Coverage shall contain no exclusion relative to blasting, 
explosion, collapse of buildings, or damage to underground property. 
 

c. The comprehensive general public liability and property damage coverage shall 
also protect the Subrecipient against all claims resulting from damage to: 

 
1) Private driveways, walks, shrubbery, and plantings 
2) Public utility facilities 
3) United States Government monuments 

 
d. The liability limits shall not be less than: 

1) Bodily Injury       $500,000 each person 
 $1,000,000 each occurrence 

2) Property Damage         $250,000 each occurrence 
  $500,000 aggregate 

 
iii. Comprehensive Motor Vehicle Liability and Property Damage Insurance that 

shall be written in comprehensive from and shall protect the Subrecipient against all 
claims for injuries to members of the public and damage to property of others arising 
from the use of motor vehicles, and shall cover operation on or off the site of all 
motor vehicles licensed for highway use, whether they are owned, non-owned, or 
hired. 
 
a. The liability limits shall not be less than: 

1) Bodily Injury         $250,000 each person 
   $500,000 each occurrence 

2) Property Damage     $100,000 each occurrence 

 
D. The Subrecipient shall not commence work under these Contract Documents until he has 

obtained all insurance required herein nor shall the Subrecipient allow any Subcontractor to 
commence work on his subcontract until similar insurance required of the Subcontractor has 
been obtained by the Subcontractor.  Insurance shall be placed by the Subrecipient with one 
or more insurance carriers licensed to do business in the State of Tennessee.  Each insurance 
policy shall be renewed ten (10) days before the expiration date of the policy. 

 
E. Adequate insurance coverage shall be maintained by the Subrecipient at all times.  Failure to 

maintain adequate coverage shall not relieve the Subrecipient of any responsibilities or 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 17 

obligations under these Contract Documents.  In the event any insurance coverage is 
canceled or allowed to lapse, the Subrecipient will not be permitted to prosecute the work 
until adequate and satisfactory insurance has been obtained and certificates of insurance 
furnished to the City.  Failure to keep insurance policies in effect will not be cause for any 
claims for extension of time under these Contract Documents. 
 

F. All such policies shall be subject to approval by the City Attorney.  Should the City Attorney 
at any time in his sole discretion determine that the insurance policies and certificate 
provided may not be sufficient to protect the interests of the City because of the insolvency 
of the insurance company or otherwise, the Subrecipient shall replace such policies with 
policies meeting his approval. 
 

G. Licensing 
The Subrecipient agrees to comply with and obtain at its own expense, if necessary, all 
applicable Federal, State, City, or County standards for licensing, certifications and 
operations of facilities and programs, and accreditation and licensing of individuals, and any 
other standards or criteria as described in this agreement to assure quality of services.  

 
PART V. OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. Dissolution of Organization 
 

In the event the Subrecipient should cease to be a nonprofit entity, liquidate, dissolve, or cease 
to operate, the Subrecipient agrees to assign and transfer to the City of Chattanooga all its rights, 
title and interest in real property that was acquired and / or improved using CDBG, HOME 
Investment Act, ESG  or other grant funds provided by the City. 

 
2. Fair Housing 

 
Subrecipient agrees that it will conduct and administer ESG activities in conformity with Pub. L. 
88-352, "Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964", and with Pub. L. 90-284 "Fair Housing Act", 
and that it will affirmatively further fair housing.  One suggested activity is to use the fair 
housing symbol and language in Subrecipient publications and/or advertisements. 

 
3. Section 504 Compliance 

 
No otherwise qualified individual with handicaps shall, solely by reason of his or her handicap, 
be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination 
under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance. This includes, but is not 
limited to, programs and/or activities related to housing, employment, and the delivery of 
services. 

 
4. Non-Discrimination 
 

Subrecipient agrees to comply with 24 CFR Part I and Parts 5, 200, 203, 236, 400, 570, 574, 882, 
891, and 982, which provide that no person shall on the ground of race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, familial status, sexual orientation, gender identity, or marital status be excluded 
from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under, any 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 18 

program or activity funded in whole or in part with federal funds made available pursuant to the 
Act. The Subrecipient agrees to post in a conspicuous place available to employees and 
applicants for employment or service, notices setting forth the provisions of these non-
discrimination clauses. 

  
5. Non-Discrimination and Residential Property 

 
Subrecipient agrees, in accordance with Executive Order 11063, 12259, and 24 CFR Parts 5, 200, 
203, 236, 400, 570, 574, 882, 891, and 982,  that it will not discriminate based on race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, familial status, sexual orientation, gender identity, or marital status 
in the sale, leasing, rental or other disposition of residential property and related facilities, or in 
the use of occupancy thereof, if such property and related facilities are, among other things, 
provided in whole or in part with the aid of loans, advances, grants, or contributions agreed to 
be made by the Federal Government. 

 
6. Labor Standards General 

 
A. Subrecipient agrees that in instances in which there is construction work of over $2,000 

financed in whole or in part with ESG funds under this Agreement, the Subrecipient will 
adhere to the Davis-Bacon Act and Copeland Anti-Kickback Act (40 U.S.C. 276c), as 
amended, which requires all laborers and mechanics working on the project to be paid not 
less than prevailing wage-rates as determined by the Secretary of Labor.  By reason of the 
foregoing requirement, the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327 et 
seq.) also applies.  These requirements apply to the rehabilitation of residential property only 
if such property contains eight or more units.  

 
B. The subrecipient agrees that for rehabilitation projects involving eight or more units, all 

contracts engaged under contracts in excess of $2,000.00 for construction, renovation or 
repair work financed in whole or in part with assistance provided under this contract, shall 
comply with Federal requirements adopted by the Grantee pertaining to such contracts and 
with the applicable requirements of the regulations of the Department of Labor, under 29 
CFR Parts 1, 3, 5 and 7 governing the payment of wages and ratio of apprentices and 
trainees to journey workers; provided that if wage rates higher than those required under the 
regulations are imposed by state or local laws, nothing hereunder is intended to relieve the 
Subrecipient of its obligation, if any, to require payment of the higher wage. The 
Subrecipient will cause or require to be inserted in full, in all contracts subject to such 
regulations, provisions meeting the requirements of this paragraph.   

 
7. Labor Matters 

 
No person employed in the work covered by this contract shall be discharged, or in any way 
discriminated against, because he or she has filed any complaint or instituted, or caused to be 
instituted, any proceeding or has testified, or is about to testify, in any proceeding under or 
relating to the labor standards applicable hereunder to his or her employer. 

 
8. Environmental Standards 

 
A. Prior to the commitment of funds to an activity, an environmental review must be 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 19 

conducted on each activity by the CD staff. The Subrecipient agrees that in accordance with 
the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 and 24 CFR part 58, it will cooperate with 
the City in complying with the Act and regulations, and that no activities will be undertaken 
until notified by the City that the activity is in compliance with the Act and regulations.  It is 
the responsibility of the Subrecipient to submit a Request for Environmental Review to the 
City as soon as possible. The Subrecipient will submit the following to request an 
environmental review: 

i. Request for Environmental Review Form 
ii. Photos of site/property 
iii. Maps 
iv. Site Plans 
v. Design Drawings 

 
B. The Subrecipient agrees that all activities must be in compliance with the following National 

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) laws and authorities. 
 

9. Flood Insurance 
 
Subrecipient agrees that ESG funds shall not be expended for acquisition or construction in an 
area identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) as having special flood 
hazards (representing the 100-year floodplain) unless the community is participating in the 
National Flood Insurance Program, or less than a year has passed since FEMA notification and 
flood insurance is obtained in accordance with section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster Protection 
Act of 1973. 
 

10. Displacement and Relocation 
 

Subrecipient agrees to take all reasonable steps to minimize displacement of persons as a result 
of ESG assisted activities and will conduct activities assisted with ESG funds in accordance with 
the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 and 24 
CFR 576.408. 
 

11. Non-Discrimination in Employment 
 

Subrecipient agrees to comply with Executive Order 11246 and 12086 and the regulations issued 
pursuant thereto (41 CFR 60) which provide that no person shall be discriminated against on the 
basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or familial status in all phases of employment 
during the performance of Federal or Federally assisted construction contracts.  The 
Subrecipient will in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 
the Subrecipient; state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or familial status. 

 
12. Employment and Business Opportunities 

 
A. Section 3 

i. Subrecipient agrees that to the greatest extent feasible, opportunities for training and 
employment be given to low and moderate income persons residing within the City, 
and that contracts for work in connection with the project, be awarded to eligible 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 20 

business concerns which are located in, or owned in substantial part by persons 
residing in, the City 

 
ii. In accordance with 24 CFR Part 135.5 beneficiaries under Section 3 are residents that 

reside in public housing or individuals residing in the metropolitan area or non-
metropolitan county in which the assistance is expended that are low or very low 
income and fall within 50-80% of the median family income guidelines.  The business 
concerns are businesses that are 51% or more owned by Section 3 residents; or whose 
full time employees include persons, at least 30% of whom are currently Section 3 
residents or can provide evidence of a commitment to subcontract in excess of 25% of 
the amount awarded to Section 3 business concerns. 

 
iii. Activities covered under Section 3 include the following projects financed in whole or 

part using ESG, HOME Investment Act funding and other competitive grants 
that include Section 108, EDI/BEDI, HOPWA, Self-Help Homeownership 
Program, and Continuum of Care Homeless Assistance Programs: 

  
a. housing rehabilitation (including reduction and abatement of lead-based paint 

hazards, but excludes routine maintenance, repair and replacement) 
 
b. housing construction, (including reconstruction, conversion) or 
 
c. other public construction projects,(including other buildings or improvements 

assisted with housing or community development assistance). 
 

d. Contracts exclusively for supplies or materials are excluded unless the 
contract includes installation of materials. 

 
iv. Section 3 data must be reported quarterly and include the following reporting 

responsibilities: 
 

a. Notifying residents and business concerns about available economic 
opportunities 

b. Notifying labor unions and organizations of the contractor’s commitments under 
section 3 

c. Notifying contractors of their responsibilities and incorporating the Section 3 
clause into contracts 

d. Facilitating training and employment of residents by applying priority preferences 
at 24 CFR 135.34 (a) (2) 

e. Awarding contracts to Section 3 Businesses by applying priority preferences at 24 
CFR 135.36 (a) (2) 

f. Documentation of all actions to comply with Section 3:  
1) Number of contracts awarded 
2) Number of contracts awarded to Section 3 business concerns 
3) Number of new hires 
4) Number of new hires that are Section 3 residents 
5) Training provided to Section 3 residents 
6) Post notices conspicuously at all section 3-covered work sites describing: 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 21 

a) The section 3 preference 
b) The minimum number and job titles subject to hire 
c) Apprenticeship and training positions available; the qualifications for 

each; and the name and location of the person taking applications 
d) The anticipated start date of the work 

 
 
13. Lead-Based Paint 
 

Subrecipient agrees to comply with the Lead Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act's prohibition 
against the use of lead-based paint in residential structures and to comply with 24 CFR 92.355 
and 24 CFR 35 with regard to notification of the hazards of lead-based paint poisoning and the 
elimination of lead-based paint hazards. Such regulations pertain to all HUD-assisted housing 
and require that all owners, prospective owners, and tenants of properties constructed prior to 
1978 be properly notified that such properties may include lead-based paint. Such notification 
shall point out the hazards of lead-based paint and explain the symptoms, treatment and 
precautions that should be taken when dealing with lead-based paint poisoning and the 
advisability and availability of blood lead level screening for children under seven. The notice 
should also point out that if lead-based paint is found on the property, abatement measures may 
be undertaken. 

  
Debarred, Suspended, or Ineligible Contractor 
 

Subrecipient agrees to comply with 24 CFR part 24 with regard to the direct or indirect use of 
any contractor during any period of debarment, suspension, or placement in ineligibility status. 

 
14. Drug Free Workplace 
 

In accordance with 24 CFR part 24, subpart A, Subrecipient agrees to administer a policy to 
provide a drug-free workplace that is free from illegal use, possession, or distribution of drugs or 
alcohol by its beneficiaries as required by the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988. 

 
15. Infrastructure Improvement Projects 
 

A. The responsibility for the design and construction of any infrastructure improvement, i.e., 
sidewalks, curb and gutter, trees, lighting, street rehabilitation, new streets, sanitary sewers, 
storm drainage, etc. lies with the Department of Public Works, City of Chattanooga. 

 
B. Subrecipient must adhere to all parties and policies of the Department of Public Works and 

coordinate infrastructure improvement projects with the department to be approved for 
reimbursement of all project costs. 

 
16. Publicity 
 

The Subrecipient shall acknowledge the contribution of the ESG Program in all published 
literature, brochures, program, flyers, etc, during the term of the Agreement. Any publicity 
generated by the Subrecipient for the project funded pursuant to this Agreement, during the 
term of this Agreement or for one year thereafter, will make reference to the contribution of the 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 22 

City of Chattanooga in making the project possible.  The words "City of Chattanooga's 
Department Economic and Community Development; Andy Berke, Mayor" will be explicitly 
stated in any and all pieces of publicity, including but not limited to flyers, press releases, posters, 
brochures, public service announcements, interviews, and newspaper articles. 

  
17. Timely Expenditure of Funds 
 

In accordance with 24 CFR 85.43, if the Subrecipient fails to expend its grant funds in a timely 
manner, such failure shall constitute a material failure to comply with this Agreement and invoke 
the Suspension and Termination provisions of PART VII.  For purposes of this Agreement, 
timely expenditure of funds means the Subrecipient shall expend or obligate by contract, as 
applicable, funds as specified in the approved timetable in PART I, Sections 4 and 5. 

 
18. Compliance with Laws 
 

The Subrecipient shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances and codes of the federal, state, 
and local governments and shall commit no trespass on any public or private property in 
performing any of the work embraced by this contract. 

 
19. Assignability 
 

The Subrecipient shall not assign any interest in this contract and shall not transfer any interest 
in the same without the prior written approval of the City. 

 
20. Equal Employment Opportunity 
  

The Subrecipient agrees to comply with the prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of 
age under the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101-07) and implementing 
regulations at 24 CFR part 146 and the prohibitions against otherwise qualified individuals with 
handicaps under section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794) and implementing 
regulations at 24 CFR part 8. For purposes of the emergency shelter grants program, the term 
dwelling units in 24 CFR part 8 shall include sleeping accommodations. 

 
21. Affirmative Action 
 

A. The Subrecipient will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or familial status. The Subrecipient will 
take affirmative action to insure that applicants are reviewed fairly, and that all employees are 
treated equally and without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or 
familial status.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, 
upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or advertising; lay-off or termination, rates of 
pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including 
apprenticeship.  The Subrecipient agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to 
employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the City setting forth 
the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.  
 

B. The Subrecipient agrees to make efforts to encourage the use of minority and women-
owned business enterprises in connection with ESG activities and to comply with the City's 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 23 

Minority and Women Owned Business Outreach Plan. 
 

C. As used in this contract, the term "minority and female business enterprise" means a 
business at least fifty-one (51) percent owned and controlled by minority group members or 
women. For the purpose of this definition, "minority group members" are African-
Americans, Spanish-speaking, Spanish surnamed or Spanish-heritage Americans, Asian-
Americans, and American Indians. The Subrecipient may rely on written representation by 
businesses regarding their status as minority and female business enterprises in lieu of an 
independent investigation.  

 
 
22. Religious Organizations 
 
           As provided by 24 CFR 92.257:  

 
A.  Organizations that are religious or faith-based are eligible, on the same basis as any other 

organization, to participate in the ESG program. Neither the federal government nor a state 
or local government receiving funds under ESG programs shall discriminate against an 
organization on the basis of the organization's religious character or affiliation.  
 

B.  Organizations that are directly funded under the ESG program may not engage in 
inherently religious activities, such as worship, religious instruction, or proselytization, as 
part of the assistance funded under this part. If an organization conducts such activities, the 
activities must be offered separately, in time or location, from the assistance funded under 
this part, and participation must be voluntary for the beneficiaries of the assistance provided.  
 

C.  A religious organization that participates in the ESG program will retain its independence 
from federal, state, and local governments, and may continue to carry out its mission, 
including the definition, practice, and expression of its religious beliefs, provided that it does 
not use direct ESG funds to support any inherently religious activities, such as worship, 
religious instruction, or proselytization. Among other things, faith-based organizations may 
use space in their facilities, without removing religious art, icons, scriptures, or other 
religious symbols. In addition, an ESG-funded religious organization retains its authority 
over its internal governance, and it may retain religious terms in its organization’s name, 
select its board members on a religious basis, and include religious references in its 
organization’s mission statements and other governing documents.  
 

An organization that participates in the ESG program shall not, in providing program assistance, 
discriminate against a program beneficiary or prospective program beneficiary on the basis of 
religion or religious belief.  

 
ESG funds may not be used for the acquisition, construction, or rehabilitation of structures to the 
extent that those structures are used for inherently religious activities. ESG funds may be used for 
the acquisition, construction, or rehabilitation of structures only to the extent that those structures 
are used for conducting eligible activities under this part. Where a structure is used for both eligible 
and inherently religious activities, ESG funds may not exceed the cost of those portions of the 
acquisition, construction, or rehabilitation that are attributable to eligible activities in accordance 
with the cost accounting requirements applicable to ESG funds in this part. Sanctuaries, chapels, or 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 24 

other rooms that a ESG-funded religious congregation uses as its principal place of worship, 
however, are ineligible for ESG-funded improvements. Disposition of real property after the term 
of the grant, or any change in use of the property during the term of the grant, is subject to 
government-wide regulations governing real property disposition (see 24 CFR parts 84 and 85).  
 
23. Consultant Activities  

In accordance with 2 CFR 200.459, no person providing consultant services in an employer-
employee type relationship shall receive more than a reasonable rate of compensation for 
personal services paid with ESG funds. In no event, however, shall such compensation exceed 
the limits in effect under the provisions of any applicable statute (e.g., annual HUD 
appropriations acts which have set the limit at the equivalent of the daily rate paid for Level IV 
of the Executive Schedule, see the Departments of Veterans Affairs and Housing and Urban 
Development, and Independent Agencies Appropriations Act, 1997, Pub. L. 104-204 
(September 26, 1996). Such services shall be evidenced by written agreements between the 
parties which detail the responsibilities, standards, and compensation. Consultant services 
provided under an independent contractor relationship are not subject to the compensation 
limitation of Level IV of the Executive Schedule. 

 
24. Hatch Act  
 

A. The Subrecipient agrees that no funds provided, nor personnel employed under this 
contract, shall be in any way or to any extent engaged in the conduct of political activities in 
violation of Chapter 15 of the Title V United States Code. 

 
i. Lobbying  

 
The Subrecipient hereby certifies that:  

 
a. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 

it, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer of employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a Member of a Congress in connection with the 
awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of 
any Federal loan, the entering into any cooperative agreement, and the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, 
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement;  
 

b. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 
paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, it will complete and 
submit Standard Form -LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in 
accordance with its instructions;  
 

c. It will require that the language of paragraph (i) of this certification be included 
in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 25 

sub-grants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and 
that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly; and  
 

d. Lobby Certification -This certification is a material representation of fact upon 
which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered into. 
Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails 
to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than 
$10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

 
25. Mandatory Disclosures  

 
As required by 2 C.F.R. §200.113, Grantee must immediately disclose, to the Department, or to 
HUD or other appropriate authorities (with a copy to the Department), all violations of federal 
criminal law involving fraud, bribery or gratuity violations potentially affecting the use of ESG 
funds provided under this contract. 
 

 
PART VI. REPORTING AND MONITORING REQUIREMENTS 
 
1. In order to document the homeless benefit required in 24 CFR 576.2, Subrecipient shall 

maintain records that document all clients served by the Subrecipient with ESG funds.  In 
addition to records that document the number of clients served, the Subrecipient shall also 
document each client’s race, family size, annual household income, and whether or not the 
family is female-headed. The Subrecipient agrees to keep records, which appropriately document 
its compliance with the requirements of this agreement and with 24 CFR part 570.490.  

 
2. The City will monitor the performance of the Subrecipient against goals and performance 

standards required herein. Substandard performance as determined by the City will constitute 
non-compliance with this Agreement. If action to correct such substandard performance is not 
taken by the Subrecipient after being notified by the City, contract termination and all funding 
may end, and the subrecipient may be required to relinquish any unused funds.  
 

3. The City will perform a formal monitoring of the Subrecipient, at minimum, one time during the 
term of this contract. If Subrecipient’s project/activity is on-going for more than one year, 
Subrecipient will be monitored annually. Areas of concentration will include, but not be limited 
to: 

 
A. Programmatic performance 
B. Financial management and accountability 
C. Project management and progress 
D. Organizational on-going capacity 

  
4. Subrecipient shall prepare and submit reports relative to this project to the City at the City’s 

request. Grantee shall prepare and submit status reports regarding the activities and overall 
progress of funding to the City of Chattanooga’ Department of Economic and Community 
Development, at minimum, on a quarterly basis in the format prescribed by the City. Status 
reports must be submitted by the 15th day following the end of the quarter. For the City of 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 26 

Chattanooga those dates are October 15, January 15, April 15
 
and July 15. Requests for 

payments or reimbursements will not be processed if the grantee is delinquent in the 
submittal of these reports.  All reports shall be submitted to your City grant contact and 
copied to: 

 
  Regina Partap 

City of Chattanooga 
Department of Economic & Community Development 
101 E 11th Street, Suite 200 
Chattanooga, TN 37402 
partap_r@chattanooga.gov 
 

5. Activities funded under this Agreement must comply with HUD’s standards on 
participation, data collection, and reporting under the local HMIS. The Chattanooga 
Regional Homeless Coalition will review the HMIS and provide ESG participants with 
reports to monitor data collection so that sufficient demographic and client service data 
is collected by ESG participant agencies and input into the HMIS. ESG participants are 
responsible for the collection and maintenance of client data and files. ESG grantees 
agencies are also responsible for the validity and accuracy of the HMIS data. ESG 
grantees also responsibility for making necessary corrections to any missing or 
inaccurate HMIS data. Data collected by Subrecipient will meet all HUD data 
requirements and standards for HMIS as provided in HUD HMIS manuals and 
guidance. The Chattanooga Regional Homeless will assist City of Chattanooga ESG 
Subrecipients so they may adhere to all applicable regulations and provides the 
appropriate data and supporting documentation for accurate HMIS reporting. 
Subrecipient will review, update and correct required HMIS data elements. 
 

6. Subrecipient shall maintain books and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  Documents shall be maintained in accordance with practices, which sufficiently and 
properly reflect all expenditures of funds provided by the City under this Agreement. 
 

7. Subrecipient shall make all records for this project available to the City, the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their 
duly authorized representatives for the purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts and 
transcriptions. 

 
8. The City, HUD, and/or the Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized 

representatives, may audit all financial and related records (including digital) associated with the 
terms of this Agreement including timesheets, reimbursable out of pocket expenses, materials, 
goods, and equipment claimed by the Subrecipient.  The City may further audit any contractor 
records to conduct performance audits (to identify waste and abuse or to determine efficiency 
and effectiveness of the contract or agreement) or to identify conflicts of interest. 

  
9.  Sub-Agreements and Contracts 

 
A. The Subrecipient must select contractors through applicable procurement procedures and 

requirements.  The contractor must provide goods and services in accordance with a written 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 27 

agreement Grantee will provide to the City, documentation evidencing adoption of 
procurement standards in compliance with provisions of federal law as now in effect, and as 
such law may be amended during the term of this contract, including but not limited to, 24 
C.F.R. Part 85, 24 C.F.R. §570.489, and 2 C.F.R. §§200.317 through 200.326, with emphasis 
on the provisions in 2 C.F.R. §200.322 regarding procurement of recovered materials.  Such 
procurement standards must include written standards of conduct covering conflicts of 
interest and governing the actions of Grantee’s employees engaged in the selection, award 
and administration of contracts.   
 

B. The obligations of this Agreement shall be explicitly included in any subcontracts or 
agreements formed between the Grantee and any subrecipients supplying services to the 
extent that those subcontracts or agreements relate to fulfilment of the Subrecipient’s 
obligations to the City.  
 

C. Conditions for religious organizations: Where applicable, the agreement must include the 
conditions prescribed in 570.200 (f) and § 5.109 of the Act for the use of ESG funds by 
religious organizations. 

 
10. On-site Inspections 

 
The City must perform on-site inspections of ESG-assisted rental housing to determine 
compliance with the property standards of § 92.251 and to verify the information submitted by 
the owners in accordance with the requirements of 570.208 (a).  
 

11. Conflict of Interest and Audit Requirements 
 
A. Conflict of Interest 

 
The Grantee will comply with the conflict of interest prohibitions set forth for the ESG 
program at 24 C.F.R. 570.489, 2 C.F.R. 200.318, and Grantee’s written standards of conduct 
covering conflicts of interest submitted to the Department, as required by 2.05 of this 
contract. In the event prohibited conflicts of interest arise, Grantee must inform the 
Department of such conflicts of interest. Exceptions to the prohibition may be granted, on a 
case‐by‐case basis, by the Department. 
 

B. Audit Requirements 
 

i. The Grantee that expends $750,000 or more in a fiscal year in federal funds from all 
sources hereby agrees to have an annual agency audit conducted in accordance with 
current City policy concerning Grantee audits and 2 CRF 200.501. The appropriate 
CFDA number must be used in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, 14.218 
for ESG. 
 

ii. Audits of this grant will be conducted in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1984, 
as amended, and the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, (which have been adopted by HUD through 2 C.F.R. 
Part 2400) as now in effect, and as such law may be amended during the term of this 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 28 

contract.  Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS) must be 
followed. 

 
iii. Grantee is required by 2 C.F.R 200.512 to submit the required audit reporting package to 

the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (“FAC”) within the earlier of 30 calendar days after 
receipt of the auditor's report(s), or nine months after the end of the audit period. 

iv. The City, HUD, and/or the Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly 
authorized representatives, may audit all financial and related records (including digital) 
associated with the terms of this Agreement including timesheets, reimbursable out of 
pocket expenses, materials, goods, and equipment claimed by the Grantee.  The City may 
further audit any contractor records to conduct performance audits (to identify waste 
and abuse or to determine efficiency and effectiveness of the contract or agreement) or 
to identify conflicts of interest.  

 
v. All Grantee records with respect to any matters covered by this Agreement will be made 

available to the Local Government, Commerce, and duly authorized officials of the state 
and federal government, at any time during normal business hours, as often as deemed 
necessary, to audit, examine, and make excerpts or transcripts of all relevant data. 

 
vi. The Grantee is responsible for follow‐up and corrective action on all audit findings. At 

the completion of the audit, the auditee shall prepare a corrective action plan to address 
each audit finding included in the current year auditor’s report. The corrective action 
plan shall provide the name(s) of the contact person(s) responsible for corrective action, 
the corrective action planned, and the anticipated completion date. Upon completion of 
the audit each grantee must also complete the following:  
 
a. Submit a copy of the single audit to the Department of Economic and Community 

Development; or  
b. If there were no Single Audit findings or questioned costs, the entity may provide 

written notification to the Department that an audit was conducted in accordance 
with Super Circular requirements (2 CFR 200) which were previously identified 
under A‐133 (including the period covered by the audit, the name, amount and 
CDFA number of awards from the Department).  A statement must be included 
stating that there were no current or continuing prior year findings or questioned 
costs.  

c. Submit to the Federal Clearinghouse in accordance with Super Circular requirements 
(2 CFR 200.512) which were previously identified under A‐133, one copy of a signed 
data collection form (SF‐ SAC), and one copy of the reporting package for the 
clearinghouse to retain as an archival copy, and one copy for each federal awarding 
agency when the schedule of findings and questioned costs disclosed audit findings 
relating to federal awards that the federal awarding agency provided directly to the 
entity.  (Awards from the Department come to the Grantee as pass‐ through awards, 
not directly from the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development). 
 

vii. The Subrecipient's obligation to the City shall not end until all close-out requirements are 
completed. Close-out requirements shall include, but are not limited to: submitting IDIS 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 29 

Completion Forms, making final payments, disposing of program assets (including the 
return of all unused materials, equipment, unspent cash advances, program income 
balances, and accounts receivable to the Subrecipient), and determining the 
custodianship of records. 

 
PART VII. SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION 
 
1. The Subrecipient agrees that if it materially fails to comply with any term of this Agreement, 

including the timely completion of activities as described in the timetable contained in the 
Statement of Work at Part I, or the provisions of Part I, the City may temporarily withhold cash 
payments pending correction of the deficiency, or wholly or partly suspend or terminate the 
current award for the Subrecipient's program. 

 
2. Notwithstanding the above, the Subrecipient shall not be relieved of liability to the City for 

damages sustained by the City by virtue of any breach of this Agreement by the Subrecipient, 
and the City, in addition to any other remedies it may have at law or equity, may withhold any 
payments to the Subrecipient for the purposes of set off until such time as the exact amount of 
damages is determined. 
 

3. In the best interest of the program and in order to better serve the people in the target areas and 
fulfill the purposes of the Act, either party may terminate this Agreement for convenience, upon 
giving thirty (30) days’ notice in writing of its intent to terminate, stating its reasons for doing so.  
In the event City terminates the Agreement, City shall pay Subrecipient for documented 
committed eligible costs. 
 

4. Notwithstanding any termination or suspension of this Agreement, Subrecipient shall not be 
relieved of any duties or obligations imposed on it under any Parts of this Agreement with 
respect to ESG funds previously disbursed or income derived therefrom. 

 
PART VIII. NOTICES 
 
Whenever either party desires to give notice unto the other, such notice must be in writing, sent by 
certified United States mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the party for whom it is intended, 
at the place last specified, and the place for giving of notice shall remain such until it shall have been 
changed by written notice in compliance with the provisions of this paragraph.  For the present, the 
parties designate the following as the respective places for giving of notice, to-wit: 
 
FOR CITY: 
 
Donna C. Williams, Administrator 
Department of Economic and Community Development 
101 E. 11th Street, Suite 200 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 
 
FOR SUBRECIPIENT: 
 
Mayor Jim Coppinger 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 30 

Hamilton County Government 
208 Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, TN  37402 
 
PART IX.  INDEMNIFICATION CLAUSE 
 
The Subrecipient will at all times hereafter indemnify and hold harmless, the City, its officers, agents, 
and employees, against any and all claims, losses, liabilities, for disallowed costs or non-complying 
expenditures of ESG funds, determined by HUD audit to have been caused by Subrecipient 's 
breach of terms of this Agreement.  Subrecipient will at all times hereafter during the term of this 
Agreement carry liability insurance with limits of liability not less than those set forth in the 
Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability Act, as amended, insuring Subrecipient against any and all 
claims, losses, liabilities or expenditures of any kind, including court costs, attorney fees and 
expenses, accruing or resulting from any or all suits or damages of any kind resulting from injuries or 
damages sustained by any person or persons, corporation or property, by virtue of the performance 
of this Agreement; provided however, that such insurance shall extend coverage only to claims, suits 
or damages based upon tort. 
 
PART X. ALL PRIOR AGREEMENTS SUPERSEDED 
 
This document incorporates and includes all prior negotiations, correspondence, conversations, 
agreements, or understandings applicable to the matters contained herein and the parties agree that 
there are no commitments, agreements, or understandings concerning the subject matter of this 
Agreement that are not contained in this document except as provided in Part XI.  Accordingly, it is 
agreed that no deviation from the terms hereof shall be predicated upon any prior representations or 
agreements whether oral or written. 
 
PART XI. LEGAL PROVISIONS DEEMED INCLUDED 
 
Each and every provision of any law or regulations and clause required by law or regulation to be 
inserted in this Agreement shall be deemed to be inserted herein, and this Agreement shall be read 
and enforced as though it were included herein and if, through mistake or otherwise, any such 
provision is not inserted or is not correctly inserted, then upon application of either party this 
Agreement shall forthwith be amended to make such insertion. 
 
 
PART XII.   TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 
 
Time is of the essence in the performance of the terms, covenants and conditions of this 
Agreement. 
 
PART XIII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
1. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable or invalid, such 

determination shall not affect the validity of other provisions contained in this Agreement.  
Failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement does not affect the rights of the parties to 
enforce such provision in another circumstance, nor does it affect the right of the parties to 
enforce any of the provision of this Agreement at any time. 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 31 

 
2. Funding for this Agreement is contingent on the availability of funds and continued 

authorization for program activities and is subject to amendment or termination due to lack of 
funds, or authorization, reduction of funds, and/or changes in regulations. 
 

3. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Tennessee.  Any action or proceeding arising under this Agreement shall be brought in either the 
courts of the State of Tennessee in Chattanooga, Tennessee or it shall be brought in a United 
States District Court for the Eastern District of Tennessee, Southern Division, whichever is 
applicable. 

 
4. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Subrecipient and the 

City and to their respective successors and assigns. 
 
5. This Agreement forms the entire agreement between the City and the Subrecipient.  Any prior 

representations, promises, agreements, or otherwise, between the parties, which are not 
embodied in this writing, will be of no force and effect. 

 
6. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 

to be an original, and all of which counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

 
 
 
 
 
In witness whereof, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement on the respective 
dates under each signature: THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, through its City 
Council, signing by and through its Mayor, authorized to execute same by Council action on the 
10TH day of May, 2016  and HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT, signing by and through its 
MAYOR duly authorized to execute the same. 
 
City: 
CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TN 
 
 
______________________________    
Andy Berke, Mayor 
 
____________________________________ 
Date 
 
AGREEMENT between THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE AND HAMILTON 
COUNTY GOVERNMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $30,000 PROVIDING FOR FUNDING 
OF ESG PROJECTS. 
 
      Subrecipient: 



City of Chattanooga ESG Contract 2016-2017 Page | 32 

WITNESS:      
______________________________ ____________________________________ 
      Signature 
      Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 
      ____________________________________ 
      Print name and Title 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Date 
 
 



No. 716-17 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF SEQUATCHIE CONCRETE SERVICE, INC. FOR 
ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING JULY 7, 2016, THROUGH JULY 6, 2017, 
WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR ONE (1) ADDITIONAL YEAR, FOR CONCRETE 
BLOCKS, MASONRY SAND AND MORTAR FOR THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing, with the option to renew for one (1) additional one year term, for concrete 
blocks, masonry sand and mortar for the Maintenance Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Sequatchie Concrete Service, Inc. was the only bid received, but said 

bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Sequatchie Concrete Service, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning July 7, 
2016, through July 6, 2017, with the option to renew for one (1) additional year, for concrete blocks, 
masonry sand and mortar for the Maintenance Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement 
this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 





























No. 716-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
July 6, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CARGILL INCORPORATED DEICING 
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING AUGUST 
5, 2016 THROUGH AUGUST 4, 2017, FOR HIGHWAY BULK DE-ICING SALT FOR THE 
HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing for highway bulk de-icing salt for the Highway Department; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the bid of Cargill Incorporated Deicing Technology Business amounting to $79.47 

per ton for pickup at terminal or $99.47 per ton for delivered salt was considered to 
be the best bid received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Cargill Incorporated Deicing Technology Business for one (1) year contract pricing, 
beginning August 5, 2016 through August 4, 2017, for highway bulk de-icing salt for the Highway 
Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor 
to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

July 6, 2016 

  
Date 

 




























	7-6-17 Public Agenda - Revised
	716-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - June 8, 2016 _2388_06-08-16 Recessed
	716-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - June 8, 2016 _2389_06-08-16 Agenda
	716-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - June 15, 2016 _2390_06-15-16 Regular
	716-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report May 2016_2371_May 2016 Excess Fee
	716-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report May 2016_2372_May 2016 Monthly
	716-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerks Report March and April 2016_2383_Juvenile Court Clerks Report March and April 2016
	716-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2387_07-06-16
	716-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2387_07-06-16A
	716-2_R_Appointment(s)_Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing Board_2280_Health & Safety Hearing Board Reappointing Ken Foster-District 1
	716-3_R_Lee Norris_Community Corrections Advisory Board_2374_2016-2018 Felony Board Resolution
	716-3_S_Lee Norris_Community Corrections Advisory Board_2374_Garrett Foster Resumé
	Education
	University of Tennessee at Chattanooga
	Intern                                                           January 2014- March 2014
	Hamilton County Sheriff’s Department                                                                           Chattanooga, TN
	Unarmed Security Guard                                                                                                                                June 2013- November 2014
	Chattanooga Billards Club                                                                           Chattanooga, TN

	716-3_S_Lee Norris_Community Corrections Advisory Board_2374_Paul Pearce recommendation & resume
	Education
	Honors
	Additional  Information

	716-4_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra_2375_CommBankston E TN Symphony
	716-4_S_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra_2375_2003_001
	716-5_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for The Chattanooga Girls Leadership Academy Inc_2369_CommMackey Girls Leadership Acad
	716-5_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for The Chattanooga Girls Leadership Academy Inc_2369_1970_001
	716-6_R_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation for East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra_2376_CommSmedley E TN Symphony
	716-6_S_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation for East Tennessee Symphony Orchestra_2376_2003_001
	716-7_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for National Coalition of 100 Black Women Chattanooga Chapter_2370_CommBeck 100 Black Women
	716-7_S_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for National Coalition of 100 Black Women Chattanooga Chapter_2370_1971_001
	716-8_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for Lakeside Youth Association_2384_CommBeck Lakeside YouthAssoc
	716-8_S_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for Lakeside Youth Association_2384_2014_001
	716-9_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for The Links Foundation Inc_2385_CommBeck Links Fndtn
	716-9_S_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for The Links Foundation Inc_2385_2017_001
	716-10_R_Sheriff Hammond_Approve contract for Sheriff_2378_Sheriff & Erlanger
	716-11_R_Vince Dean_Debt Collection Services_2377_RES. DEBT COLLECCTION SERVICES
	716-11_S_Vince Dean_Debt Collection Services_2377_Debt Collection Services
	716-12_R_Justin Witt_Televisions and equipment_2392_RES. TELEVISISONS
	716-12_S_Justin Witt_Televisions and equipment_2392_Televisions & Equipment
	716-13_R_Todd Leamon_Designate HC Parks and Rec as Holder of a Stream Conservation Easement on IDB property_2393_Res. North Fork Stream Conservation Easement
	716-13_S_Todd Leamon_Designate HC Parks and Rec as Holder of a Stream Conservation Easement on IDB property_2393_Attachments North Fork Stream Conservation Easement
	716-14_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel May 2016_2386_Fuel Resolution May 2016
	716-14_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel May 2016_2386_May 2016 docs
	716-15_R_Becky Barnes_Prenatal Presumptive Eligibility_2373_PE Expansion RESOLUTION  2016 OFFICIAL 
	716-15_S_Becky Barnes_Prenatal Presumptive Eligibility_2373_PE Expansion CONTRACT 2016.docx
	716-16_R_Becky Barnes_Community Assistance Services Emergency Solutions Grant_2391_Resolution Emergency Assistance 2016-17
	716-16_S_Becky Barnes_Community Assistance Services Emergency Solutions Grant_2391_2016-2017 ESG Contract for Hamilton County Government
	716-17_R_Todd Leamon_Concrete Blocks Masonry Sand and Mortar Mix Contract_2379_Res Concrete Blocks Contract 7-6-16
	716-17_S_Todd Leamon_Concrete Blocks Masonry Sand and Mortar Mix Contract_2379_Concrete Blocks
	716-18_R_Todd Leamon_Highway Bulk DeIcing Salt_2380_RES Highway Bulk De-Icing Salt
	716-18_S_Todd Leamon_Highway Bulk DeIcing Salt_2380_Highway Bulk De-Icing Salt

